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2. Corporate Structure 

2.1 This Form 2A is filed with respect to Brisio Innovations Inc. (the “Company” or the “Issuer”) in 
connection with its listing on the Canadian Stock Exchange (referred to herein as the “CSE”).  The 
Company’s head office is located at Suite 1052, 409 Granville Street, Vancouver, British 
Columbia, Canada V6C 1T2.  The Company’s registered office is located at Suite 800 – 885 West 
Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3H1.  All dollar amounts referenced 
herein are shown in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 

2.2 The Company was incorporated on May 21, 1993 as “567905 Alberta Ltd.” pursuant to the 
Business Corporations Act (Alberta).  On September 8, 1993, the Company changed its name to 
“Hilstar Capital Corporation”.  Pursuant to Articles of Amendment filed on October 5, 1995, the 
Company changed its name to “KINeSYS Pharmaceuticals Inc.” and its then issued and 
outstanding common shares were consolidated on a three-for-one basis (one new common share 
for every three common shares then outstanding).  On August 20, 1997, the Company changed 
its name to “Green River Petroleum Inc.”  On July 6, 1999, the Company changed its name to 
“Green River Holdings Inc.” and its then issued and outstanding common shares were 
consolidated on a five-for-one basis (one new common share for every five common shares 
outstanding).  On July 28, 2000, the Company changed its name to “Netco Energy Inc.”, and its 
then issued and outstanding common shares were consolidated on a two-for-one basis (one new 
common share for every two common shares then outstanding). 

On July 14, 2011, the Company changed its name to “Netco Silver Inc.”  On August 26, 2013, the 
Company’s then issued and outstanding common shares were consolidated on a five-for-one 
basis (one new common share for every five common shares outstanding).  On February 11, 
2014, the Company changed its name to its current name of “Brisio Innovations Inc.” and 
changed the jurisdiction of the Company from the Province of Alberta to the Province of British 
Columbia. 

2.3 The Company has two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Green River Petroleum (USA) Inc., which was 
incorporated in the State of Washington and Netco Argentina S.A., incorporated in Argentina. 

Both of the foregoing subsidiaries are currently dormant and are not used in connection with the 
Company’s operating activities. 

2.4 Not applicable. 

2.5 Not applicable. 

3. General Development of the Business 

3.1 In February 2014, the Company changed its name to “Brisio Innovations Inc.”, which occurred in 
connection with the listing of the Company’s common shares on the CSE, to more clearly reflect 
the Company’s business plan focused on the acquisition, development and marketing of software 
applications for mobile computing devices, including smart phones, tablets, smart TVs and 
wearable computers. 

The Company’s initial app acquisition was the “On the Fly – Voice Translator” mobile application.  
“On the Fly” is a simple to use voice translator application that allows a person to translate voice 
and text “on the fly”.  The application recognizes speech and text and translates into over 70 
supported languages.  In February 2014, the Company purchased all the rights and intellectual 
property and online assets associated with a portfolio of 40 applications.  This portfolio focused on 
health and wellness and gaming apps. 

Also in February 2014, the Company acquired all rights, intellectual property and online assets 
associated with Boostify, an Android smartphone speed booster and battery saver.  In March 2014, 
the Company purchased all rights, intellectual property and online assets associated with 
“Spermy’s Journey, A Race To The Egg!”, an Android and IOS game app.  In November 2014, the 



4 

 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

January 2015 

Company released the source code for its hit game Spermy’s Journey for iOS and Android so 
developers around the world can create their own game using our proven underlying code.   

 
On March 14, 2014, the Company entered into a non-binding letter of intent (the “LOI”) with 
unrelated party OakBranch Media Inc. (“OakBranch”) to acquire up to 100% of the issued and 
outstanding securities of OakBranch and its underlying assets (the “Transaction”). OakBranch was 
an integrated media company with its main assets being the Good e-Reader website, a leading 
website specializing in e-Reader, eBook and Digital Publishing News and the Good e-Reader App 
Store, which with over 35,000 apps.  In June 2014, the Company executed a Definitive Agreement 
to acquire up to 100% of the issued and outstanding securities of OakBranch Media and its 
underlying assets.  As of September 30, 2016, the Company had made aggregate cash payments 
of $100,000 to OakBranch. On September 21, 2015, OakBranch Media issued a share certificate 
registered to Brisio for 333,334 Class A Preferred Shares, resulting in Brisio having significant 
influence over OakBranch. As such, OakBranch is now considered an equity investee. The 
Company’s option to acquire additional securities of OakBranch, sufficient to give the Company an 
additional 19.9% voting and equity interest in OakBranch, expired on June 8, 2015, as the 
Company elected not to pursue the acquisition of the additional equity position. 
 
In January 2015, the Company invested in Lite Access Technologies Inc. Lite Access’ proprietary 
microduct technology extends a Network Provider’s ability to deliver true broadband connectivity 
directly to end users, such as homes, government and educational institutions, emergency 
response facilities. Lite Access has successfully deployed thousands of kilometers of microduct 
networks throughout North and South America, the UK, the Caribbean and Asia. Brisio’s strategy 
is to build a portfolio of high-value investments, with Lite Access being the first investment in a 
company unrelated to the mobile app space. In June 2015, Lite Access went public on the 
Canadian Securities Exchange. 

In February 2015, the Company invested in Intema Solutions Inc. (“Intema”). Intema provides a 
wide range of products and services, including predictive marketing, search engine marketing, and 
programming and integration services. Intema has been simplifying and optimizing the online 
marketing activities of medium and large companies through innovating technologies and cutting 
edge expertise for more than 15 years.  The investment in Intema is consistent with Brisio’s goal of 
building a portfolio of high-value investments. 

 
In December 2015, the Company purchased 20,000 shares of Hamilton Thorne Ltd. (“Hamilton”) 
on the open market at a price of $0.20 per share, for a total price of $4,000. As of September 30, 
2016, the Company owned no shares of Hamilton. 
 
On March 17, 2016, the Company purchased 18,000 shares of International Barrier Technology 
Inc. (“International Barrier”) on the open market at a price of $0.31 for a total of $5,580. As of 
September 30, 2016, the Company owned 17,500 shares of International Barrier. 
 
On March 30, 2016, the Company completed an investment in Pioneering Technology Corp. 
(“Pioneering”). The Company subscribed for 1,200,000 units of Pioneering at a price of $0.125 per 
unit for a total price of $150,000. Each unit was comprised of one common share of Pioneering 
(each, a “Pioneering Share”) and one-half of one share purchase warrant, with each warrant 
entitling the Company to acquire one additional Pioneering Share at a price of $0.25 per share until 
the date that is 18 months after the close of the offering. As of September 30, 2016, the Company 
owned 1,050,000 shares and 600,000 warrants of Pioneering. 
 
On April 13, 2016, the Company purchased 100,000 shares of Renoworks Software Inc. 
(“Renoworks”) on the open market at a price of $0.31 for a total of $31,000. As of September 30, 
2016, the Company owned 100,000 shares of Renoworks. 
 
On April 29, 2016, the Company purchased 100,000 shares of Cencotech Inc. (“Cencotech”) on 
the open market at a price of $0.34 for a total of $34,000. On September 30, 2016, the Company 
owned 100,000 shares of Cencotech. 
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On May 30, 2016, the Company purchased 75,000 shares of Distinct Infrastructure (“Distinct”) on 
the open market at a price of $0.125 for a total of $9,375. On September 30, 2016, the Company 
owned no shares of Distinct. 
 
On September 15, 2016, the Company purchased 523,332 shares of Allur Group Inc. (“Allur”) on 
the open market at a price of $0.15 for a total of $78,500. 

In September 2016 and December 2016, the Company invested in ImmunoPrecise Antibodies Ltd. 
(“IPA”).  IPA is a premier supplier of custom monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies for a variety of 
species including rabbit, mice and rat for monoclonal hybridomas and for rabbit, rat, goat and 
sheep for polyclonal antibodies, custom peptide production services and cryopreservation 
services.  In December 2016, IPA went public on the TSX Venture Exchange. 

3.2 The response to Item 3.1 is responsive to this Item 3.2. 

3.3 Statements included in this Listing Statement that do not relate to present or historical conditions 
are “forward-looking statements”.  Forward-looking statements are projections in respect of future 
events or the Company’s future financial performance.  In some cases, you can identify forward-
looking statements by terminology such as “may”, “should”, “intend”, “expect”, “plan”, “anticipate”, 
“believe”, “estimate”, “predict”, “potential”, or “continue”, or the negative of these terms or other 
comparable terminology.  Forward-looking statements in this Listing Statement include statements 
with respect to: the ability of the Company to acquire new apps; whether any apps acquired will be 
embraced by the purchasing public; expected future growth of the smart device market; and 
statements regarding estimated capital requirements and use of proceeds.  These statements are 
only predictions and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties, including the risks in the 
section entitled “Risk Factors”, and other factors which may cause the Company’s actual results, 
levels of activity or performance to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity 
or performance expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. 

 Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements 
are reasonable, it cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity or performance.  Further, any 
forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and, 
except as required by applicable law, the Company undertakes no obligation to update any 
forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such 
statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.  New factors emerge from 
time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all of such factors and to assess in 
advance the impact of such factors on the Company’s business or the extent to which any factor, 
or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any 
forward-looking statement. 

4 Narrative Description of the Business 

4.1 General 
 

The Company invests its capital in assets, companies, and projects which management believe 
are undervalued and on the acquisition, development and marketing of software applications for 
mobile computing devices, including smart phones, tablets, smart TVs and wearable computers. 
 
In 2014, the Company refocused its business activities from the acquisition, development and 
marketing of software applications to investing in technology based companies.  The Company 
intends to continue its new focus and build a portfolio of high-value investments typical within the 
technology sector. 

 
The Company expects to use its current working capital and complete sufficient financing to pay its 
current operating costs on a go forward basis. 
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Business Objectives 

The Company’s major objective for the next twelve months is to continue the execution of its 
business plan, building a portfolio of high-value investments. 

Working Capital and Use of Funds 

The following table sets out the Company’s proposed use of funds for the next twelve months: 

Working capital surplus as at January 31, 2017 $500,000 

Salaries or consulting fees $120,000 

Office expenses $25,000 

Professional fees $50,000 

Miscellaneous general and administrative $40,000 

Budget surplus ($265,000) 

While the above table reflects the Company’s intended use of funds based on current working 
capital deficit, the Company hopes to generate sufficient funds from its investment portfolio and, if 
required, raise additional capital through equity financing. 

 
Investment Strategy 
 
In light of the numerous investment opportunities across the entire technology sector, the 
Company wishes to adopt a fairly unrestricted approach to investment targets without placing 
unnecessary limits on out below. 
 
- Investment Sector: Industrial, or technology industries. 

 
- Investment Types: Equity, debt, derivatives and any other investment structures or 

instruments that could be acquired or created. 
 
- Jurisdictions: Preference will be given to developed countries but investment in all countries 

is permissible depending on the risk assessment made by the Company’s board of directors 
and management at the time the investment is made and the risk-reward relationship 
associated with each investment in a particular jurisdiction. 

 
- Investment Size: Unlimited, which may result in the companies holding a control position in a 

target corporation or possibly requiring future equity or debt financings to raise money for 
specific investments. 

 
- Investment Timeline: Not limited. 
 
- Investment Targets: Investments in public or private corporations that own, or propose to 

own, industrial, or technology assets or their respective derivatives. Distressed situations 
where a change of management or other restructuring is required to realize the value of the 
asset. Activist investing where shareholder value is being adversely affected by a corporation’s 
current board and management. 

 
- Investment Review: Will seek to maintain the ability to actively review and revisit all of the 

investments on an ongoing basis. 
 
- Liquidity: Will evaluate the liquidity of investments and seek to realize value from same in a 

prudent and orderly fashion. 

4.2 Not applicable. 

4.3 Not applicable. 
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4.4 Not applicable. 

5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  

5.1 Annual Information  

The following table summarizes selected annual financial data for the Company prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) for the three fiscal years ended December 
31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2016.  The information 
presented below is derived from the Company’s financial statements which were examined by its 
independent auditor (excluding the nine months ended September 30, 2016).  The information set 
forth below should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited annual financial statements 
and related notes thereto, which are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 

 

Year ended 
12/31/2013 
(audited) 

Year ended  
12/31/2014 
(audited) 

Year ended 
12/31/2015  
(audited) 

Nine months ended 
09/30/2016 
(unaudited) 

Gross revenues (loss) $  - $ (13,232) $ (66,722) $ 3,526 
Total expenses (405,625) (456,880) (257,769) (205,440) 

Other Items (3,487) (34,493) (257,805) 41,412 
Deferred income tax 
recovery 

- - 46,873 93,096 

Net loss (409,112) (504,605) (535,423) (67,405) 
Basic and diluted loss, 
per share 

(0.04) (0.03) (0.02) 0.01 

Total assets 337,616 428,532 522,948 1,825,875 
Long-term debt - - - - 
Dividends declared - - - - 

5.2 Quarterly Information  

The following table summarizes selected quarterly financial data for the Company prepared in 
accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB for each of the eight most recently completed 
quarters. 

 

 
Sept 30, 

2016 
June 30, 

2016 
Mar. 31, 

2016 
Dec. 31, 

2015 
Sept. 30, 

2015 
June 30, 

2015 
Mar. 31, 

2015 
Dec. 31, 

2014 
Total gross revenues 
(profit) 

$2,146 $1,825 $1,990 $2,516 $3,812 $4,300 $6,201 8,108 

Net loss - total (13,180) (51,181) (3,044) (300,033) ( 89,705) (76,587) (69,098) (143,134) 

Basic and diluted 
income (loss) per 
share  

(0.00) (0.00) (0.00) (0.01) (0.01) 0.00 0.00 0.00 

5.3 The Company does not have a dividend policy.  There are no restrictions that could prevent the 
Company from paying dividends. 

5.4 Not applicable. 

6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 

Annual MD&A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 – Attached as Appendix A 

Interim MD&A for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 – Attached as Appendix B 
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7. Market for Securities 

The Company’s common shares are currently listed for trading on the Canadian Securities 
Exchange (the “CSE”) under the symbol “BZI”. 

8. Consolidated Capitalization 

The following is a summary of significant changes in the Company’s capitalization since December 
31, 2015: 

 

Designation of 
Security 

Amount 
Outstanding as of 

September 30, 
2016 (undiluted) 

Amount 
Outstanding as of 

September 30, 
2016 (fully diluted) 

Amount 
Outstanding as of 

December 31, 
2015 

(undiluted) 

Amount 
Outstanding as of 

December 31, 
2015 

(fully diluted) 

Common shares 29,011,828 32,820,159 25,235,162 28,772,089 

Preferred shares - - - - 

In March 2016, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement pursuant to which it sold an 
aggregate of 3,776,666 Units at a price of $0.075 per Unit, for gross proceeds of $283,250. Each 
Unit consists of one common share of the Company (each, a “Share”) and one-half of one share 
purchase warrant (each, a “Warrant”). Each whole Warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase 
one additional Share at a price of $0.15 per Share for a period of one year from closing of the 
Financing, subject to an acceleration provision whereby, in the event that the average closing price 
is equal to or greater than $0.20 per Share for a period of fifteen consecutive trading days, the 
Company may accelerate the expiry date of the Warrants, to a date that is thirty days after the 
notice of completion of such period. 

On January 17, 2017, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement financing of 
5,332,833 units at a price of $0.15 per unit for gross proceeds of $799,925.  Each Unit consists of 
one common share of the Company and one-quarter of one share purchase warrant. Each whole 
warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional share at a price of $0.25 per share for a 
period of two years from closing of the financing, subject to an acceleration provision whereby, in 
the event that the average closing price is equal to or greater than $0.40 per share for a period of 
ten consecutive trading days, the Company may accelerate the expiry date of the warrants, to a 
date that is thirty days after the notice of completion of such period. 

As a result of the financings noted above, the Company’s working capital as of January 31, 2017 
was approximately $500,000, on an unaudited basis.  

9. Options to Purchase Securities 

The following table sets forth the amount and terms of currently outstanding options to acquire 
common shares the Company has granted to all directors, past directors, executive officers, past 
executive officers, all other employees and past employees, and consultants.  The Company has 
not granted options to any person who is not, or was not previously, a director, officer, employee or 
consultant.  Exercise prices shown reflect consolidations of the Company’s common share capital. 
 

Category 

Aggregate 
Number of 
Individuals

Aggregate 
Number of 

Options Date of Grant 
Exercise 

Price Expiry Date 

Directors and Past Directors 2 300,000 September 27, 2013 $0.15 September 27, 2018 

2 140,000 February 28, 2014 $0.30 February 28, 2019 

2 325,000 August 4, 2016 $0.10 August 4, 2021 

Executive Officers and Past 
Executive Officers 

1 240,000 September 27, 2013 $0.15 September 27, 2018 

1 140,000 February 28, 2014 $0.30 February 28, 2019 
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Category 

Aggregate 
Number of 
Individuals

Aggregate 
Number of 

Options Date of Grant 
Exercise 

Price Expiry Date 

1 150,000 December 12, 2014 $0.10 December 12, 2019 

2 325,000 August 4, 2016 $0.10 August 4, 2021 

Employees and Past 
Employees 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Consultants 3 200,000 September 27, 2013 $0.15 September 27, 2018 

1 20,000 February 28, 2014 $0.30 February 28, 2019 

10. Description of the Securities 

10.1 The Company’s authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares without par 
value and an unlimited number of preferred shares without par value.  Preferred shares may be 
issued in one or more series and the Company’s directors may fix the number of shares which is to 
comprise each series and designate the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to 
each series.  As of the date of this Listing Statement, there are no preferred shares issued and 
outstanding. 

Holders of common shares are entitled to vote at all meetings of shareholders, except meetings at 
which only holders of a specified class of shares are entitled to vote, receive any dividend declared 
by the Company and, subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to any 
other class of shares, receive the remaining property of the Company upon dissolution. 

10.2 Not applicable. 

10.3 Not applicable. 

10.4 Not applicable. 

10.5 The provisions in the Company’s Articles attaching to the common shares and the preferred 
shares may be altered, amended, repealed, suspended or changed by the affirmative vote of the 
holders of not less than two-thirds of the common shares and two-thirds of the preferred shares, 
respectively, present in person or by proxy at any such meeting of holders. 

10.6 Not applicable. 

10.7 Prior Sales 

During the 12 months preceding the date of this Listing Statement, the Company issued the 
following common shares and securities convertible into common shares: 
 

Date of Issuance 
Type of Security 

Issued 
Number of 

Securities Issued 
Price per 
Security 

Total Funds 
Received 

March 23, 2016 Units(1) 3,776,666 $0.075 $283,250 

January 17, 2017 Units(2) 5,332,833 $0.15 $799,925 

Notes: 

(1) Each unit consists of one common share and one-half of one warrant, each whole warrant entitles the holder to 
purchase one additional common share at a price of $0.15 per common share until March 23, 2017. 

(2) Each unit consists of one common share and one-quarter of one warrant, each whole warrant entitles the holder to 
purchase one additional common share at a price of $0.25 per common share until January 17, 2019. 

10.8 Stock Exchange Price 

The high and low market prices, and volume traded of the Company’s common shares on the CSE 
for each month of the current quarter and the immediately preceding quarter were as follows: 
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Monthly Highs, Lows and Volumes 
High  
($) 

Low 
($) 

Volume 

February 2017 0.26 0.225 16,500 

January 2017 0.28 0.21 110,700 

December 2016 0.35 0.195 534,600 

November 2016 0.24 0.13 601,400 

October 2016 0.175 0.14 313,500 

September 2016 0.25 0.105 352,000 

The high and low market prices, and volume traded of the Company’s common shares on the CSE 
for each full fiscal quarter for the seven quarters preceding the quarter ended December 31, 2016 
were as follows: 
 

Quarterly Highs, Lows and Volumes 
High  
($) 

Low 
($) 

Volume 

Quarter ended December 31, 2016 0.35 0.13 601,400 

Quarter ended September 30, 2016 0.25 0.065 352,000 

Quarter ended June 30, 2016 0.145 0.07 505,961 

Quarter ended March 31, 2016 0.10 0.035 370,000 

Quarter ended December 31, 2015 0.10 0.04 418,000 

Quarter ended September 30, 2015 0.17 0.055 237,000 

Quarter ended June 30, 2015 0.17 0.10 385,500 

Quarter ended March 31, 2015 0.2 0.09 310,000 

The trading price and volume of the Company’s common shares has been and may continue to be 
subject to wide fluctuations.  The stock market has generally experienced extreme price and 
volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating 
performance of companies with little or no current business operations.  Because the Company’s 
common shares are expected to be only sporadically traded on the CSE, shareholders may find it 
difficult to liquidate their common shares, or purchase new common shares at certain times. 

11. Escrowed Securities 

As of the date of this Listing Statement, the Company does not have any escrowed securities. 

12. Principal Shareholders 

12. The following table lists those persons that beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise 
control or direction over, common shares carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to 
the outstanding common shares of the Company: 

 
Name & Municipality of 
Residence Type of Ownership Number of Shares Held 

Percentage of 
Shares Held(1) 

Gabrielle Miss 
 

Direct and Indirect 5,881,500 
Direct and Director 

16.9% 
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13. Directors and Officers 

13.1 The following table sets out information concerning directors and executive officers of the 
Company: 

 

Name 
Municipality/Province  

of Residence and 
Position(s) 

with the Company(1) 

Principal Occupation 
Business or Employment 

for Last Five Years(1) 

Date of 
Appointment 
as Director or 

Officer 

Number of 
Common 
Shares  

Owned(2) 

Paul Andreola(3) 

Vancouver, BC 

President, CEO and 
Director 

Mr. Andreola has been a Director of the Company since 
April 28, 2011 and President and CEO of the Company 
since February 2013.  He has been self-employed since 
October 2008. 

April 28, 2011 2,549,766(4) 

 

Scott MacEachern 

Vancouver, BC 

CFO and Secretary 

Mr. MacEachern has been the CFO and Secretary of the 
Company since March 10, 2014.  Mr. MacEachern is a 
Chartered Accountant and founder of the accounting firm 
LedgerLiberty Solutions Inc. since 2013. Prior to this, he 
worked at Ernst & Young from 2006 - 2011 and as a 
Controller from 2011-2013. 

March 10, 
2014 

93,334(5) 

 

Colin Bowkett(3) 

West Vancouver, BC 

Director 

Mr. Bowkett has been a Director of the Company since 
November 17, 2010.  He has been president of Archer 
Petroleum Corp., a TSXV listed oil and gas issuer, since 
February 2010 and a director of Archer Petroleum Corp. 
since June 2009. 

November 17, 
2010 

672,000(6) 

 

Steve Vestergaard(3) 

Lions Bay, BC 

Director 

Mr. Vestergaard has been a Director of the Company since 
July 18, 2013.  Mr. Vestergaard has been the chairman, 
president and CEO of Destiny Media Technologies, Inc. 
since 1999. 

July 18, 2013 1,475,000(7) 

Notes: 

(1) Information has been furnished by the respective directors and officers individually. 

(2) The information as to common shares beneficially owned or over which a person set forth above exercises control or 
direction, directly or indirectly, not being within the knowledge of the Company, has been based on insider reports filed 
on SEDI by the respective directors and officers. 

(3) Member of audit committee. 

(4) Includes 1,224,100 common shares held directly and 1,325,666 common shares held indirectly by Patricia Finlayson, 
spouse of Paul Andreola.  Does not include stock options to acquire 240,000 common shares at a price of $0.15 per 
share until September 27, 2018, stock options to acquire 140,000 common shares at a price of $0.30 until February 
28, 2019, stock options to acquire 250,000 common shares at a price of $0.10 until August 4, 2021, warrants to 
acquire 170,000 common shares at a price of $0.15 per share until March 23, 2017, and warrants to acquire 85,000 
common shares at a price of $0.25 per share until January 17, 2019. 

(5) Does not include stock options to acquire 150,000 common shares at a price of $0.10 per share until December 12, 
2019, stock options to acquire 75,000 common shares at a price of $0.10 until August 4, 2021, and warrants to 
acquire 23,333 common shares at a price of $0.25 per share until January 17, 2019.  

(6) Does not include stock options to acquire 100,000 common shares at a price of $0.10 per share until September 27, 
2018, stock options to acquire 70,000 common shares at a price of $0.30 per share until February 19, 2019, stock 
options to acquire 250,000 common shares at a price of $0.10 until August 4, 2021, warrants to acquire 150,000 
common shares at a price of $0.15 per share until March 23, 2017, and warrants to acquire 50,000 common shares at 
a price of $0.25 per share until January 17, 2019. 

(7) Does not include stock options to acquire 200,000 common shares at a price of $0.10 per share until September 27, 
2018, and stock options to acquire 70,000 common shares at a price of $0.30 per share until February 28, 2019, stock 
options to acquire 75,000 common shares at a price of $0.10 until August 4, 2021. 

13.2 The table above sets forth the period during which each director has served as a director.  All 
directors hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders or until their earlier death, 
removal or resignation. 
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13.3 As a group, the directors and executive officers of the Company beneficially own, and exercise 
control and direction over, an aggregate of 4,790,100 common shares of the Company, 
representing 16.5% of the issued and outstanding common shares, on an undiluted basis, as at ●, 
2017. 

13.4 The Company has an Audit Committee, comprised of Paul Andreola, Colin Bowkett and Steve 
Vestergaard. 

13.5 Details of the principal occupations of any director or executive officer of the Company are set forth 
in the table above. 

13.6 No director or officer of the Company, or shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities to 
affect materially control of the Company is, or within 10 years before the date of this Listing 
Statement, has been, a director or officer of any other issuer that, while that person was acting in 
that capacity: 

(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied such other issuer 
access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law for a period of more than 30 
consecutive days;  

(b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer ceased to be a 
director or executive officer, in such other issuer being the subject of a cease trade or 
similar order or an order that denied such other issuer access to any exemption under 
securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; 

(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 
with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; 
or 

(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or was subject to or 
instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

13.7 No director or officer of the Company, or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of the 
Company to affect materially the control of the Company, has: 

(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian 
securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into a 
settlement agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory authority; or 

(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body 
that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an 
investment decision. 

13.8 Not applicable. 

13.9 No director or officer of the Company, or shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities to 
affect materially control of the Company, or a personal holding company of any such persons, has, 
within the 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a proposal 
under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold the assets of such person.  

13.10 There are no existing or potential material conflicts of interest between the Company or a 
subsidiary of the Company and a director or officer of the Company or a subsidiary of the 
Company. 
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13.11 The Company’s management team is comprised of Paul Andreola and Scott MacEachern.  The 
following table provides information about each member of management that is in addition to the 
information included in the table in Section 13.1 above: 

 

Name and 
Position with the 

Company Age 

Responsibilities 
with the 

Company 

Employee or 
Independent 
Contractor? Particular Industry Experience 

Non-
Competition 

or  
Non-

Disclosure 
Agreement?

(Yes / No) 

Paul Andreola 

President and 
CEO 

51 President and 
CEO 

Independent 
Contractor 

Mr. Andreola has over 20 years of 
business development and 
financial markets experience.  He 
is the cofounder of both MDU 
Communications Inc. (OTCBB: 
MDTV), a provider of premium 
telecommunications services, and 
Destiny Media Technologies Inc. 
(TSXV: DSY), a leader in digital 
media distribution. 

No 

Scott MacEachern 

CFO and 
Secretary 

29 CFO and 
Secretary 

Independent 
Contractor 

Mr. MacEachern is a Chartered 
Accountant. He is founder of the 
accounting firm LedgerLiberty 
Solutions Inc. and has worked in 
the accounting industry for the past 
nine years. 

No 

14. Capitalization 

14.1 The following table sets out information regarding the Company’s common shares. 
 
Issued Capital 

 Number of
Securities  

(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 

(fully-diluted) 
%of Issued 

(non-diluted) 
% of Issued 

(fully diluted) 
Public Float 
 

    

Total outstanding (A)  34,828,704 39,673,577 100% 100% 
     
Held by Related Persons or employees of 
the Company or Related Person of the 
Company, or by persons or companies 
who beneficially own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% voting position 
in the Company (or who would 
beneficially own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% voting position 
in the Company upon exercise or 
conversion of other securities held) (B) 

10,671,600 13,684,933 30.64% 34.49% 

     
Total Public Float (A-B) 24,157,104 25,988,644 69.36% 65.51% 
     
Freely-Tradeable Float 
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 Number of
Securities  

(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 

(fully-diluted) 
%of Issued 

(non-diluted) 
% of Issued 

(fully diluted) 
Number of outstanding securities subject 
to resale restrictions, including restrictions 
imposed by pooling or other 
arrangements or in a shareholder 
agreement and securities held by control 
block holders (C)  

1,432,500 358,332 4.11% 0.90% 

     

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 22,724,604 25,630,312 65.25 64.60% 
 
Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 
The following table sets forth information regarding the number of registered “public securityholders” of the 
Company, being persons other than persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart: 
 

Class of Security: Common Shares   

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities  49  1,127 

100 – 499 securities  12  2,388  

500 – 999 securities  2  1,600 

1,000 – 1,999 securities  2  2,610 

2,000 – 2,999 securities  0  0 

3,000 – 3,999 securities  2  6,817 

4,000 – 4,999 securities  1  4,020 

5,000 or more securities  13  1,698,971 

Unable to confirm  0  0 
 
 
Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 
 
The following table sets forth information regarding the number of beneficial “public securityholders” of the 
Company, being persons other than persons enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital chart who 
either: (i) hold securities in their own name as registered shareholders; or (ii) hold securities through an 
intermediary where the Company has been given written confirmation of shareholdings: 

 

Class of Security: Common Shares   

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities  30  951 

100 – 499 securities  34  8,491 

500 – 999 securities  23  15,500 

1,000 – 1,999 securities  44  51,212 

2,000 – 2,999 securities  27  56,880 

3,000 – 3,999 securities  21  67,100 

4,000 – 4,999 securities  13  53,740 

5,000 or more securities  173  9,147,238 

Unable to confirm  0  0 
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

The following table sets forth information regarding the number of registered “non-public securityholders” of 
the Company, being persons enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital chart: 
 

Class of Security: Common Shares   

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities  0  0 

100 – 499 securities  0  0 

500 – 999 securities  0  0 

1,000 – 1,999 securities  0  0 

2,000 – 2,999 securities  0  0 

3,000 – 3,999 securities  0  0 

4,000 – 4,999 securities  0  0 

5,000 or more securities  2  1,240,000 
 

14.2 The following table sets out information regarding any securities convertible or exchangeable into 
any class of listed securities:  

 

Description of Security 

Number of convertible / 
exchangeable securities 

outstanding(1) 

Number of listed securities 
issuable upon conversion / 

exercise(1) 

Stock Options 1,840,000(2)(3)(4)(5)  1,840,000 

Warrants 3,004,873(6)(7) 3,004,873 

Notes: 

(1) Number of securities and exercise prices of securities issued or granted prior to August 2013 have been adjusted to 
give effect to the Company’s five for one consolidation of common shares that occurred in August 2013. 

(2) On September 27, 2013, the Company granted 850,000 stock options, each of which is exercisable into one common 
share at a price of $0.15 per share until September 27, 2018 of which 740,000 remain outstanding. 

(3) On February 28, 2014, the Company granted 300,000 stock options, each of which is exercisable into one common 
share at a price of $0.30 per share until February 28, 2019 of which 300,000 remain outstanding. 

(4) On December 12, 2014, the Company granted 150,000 stock options, each of which is exercisable into one common 
share at a price of $0.10 per share until December 12, 2019 of which 150,000 remain outstanding. 

(5) On August 4, 2016, the Company granted 650,000 stock options, each of which is exercisable into one common 
share at a price of $0.10 per share until August 4, 2021 of which 650,000 remain outstanding. 

(6) On March 23, 2016, the Company issued 1,888,331 warrants, each exercisable into one common share at a price of 
$0.15 per share exercisable until March 23, 2017 of which 1,671,665 remain outstanding. 

(7) On January 17, 2017, the Company issued 1,333,208 warrants, each exercisable into one common share at a price 
of $0.25 per share exercisable until January 17, 2019 of which 1,333,208 remain outstanding. 

14.3 Not applicable. 

15. Executive Compensation 

15.1 The following information has been derived from the Company’s Statement of Executive 
Compensation on Form 51-102F6 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, which was 
included in the Company’s management information circular dated June 6, 2016, delivered in 
connection with the Company’s annual general meeting of shareholders held on July 7, 2016.   
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General 

For the purpose of this Listing Statement: 

“CEO” means each individual who acted as chief executive officer of the Company or acted in a 
similar capacity for any part of the most recently completed financial year; 

“CFO” means each individual who acted as chief financial officer of the Company or acted in a 
similar capacity for any part of the most recently completed financial year; 

“Named Executive Officer” or “NEO” means each of the following individuals: 

(a) a CEO; 

(b) a CFO; 

(c) each of the Company’s three most highly compensated executive officers, including any of 
its subsidiaries, or the three most highly compensated individuals acting in a similar 
capacity, other than the CEO and CFO, at the end of the most recently completed financial 
year and whose total compensation was, individually, more than $150,000 for that financial 
year, as determined in accordance with subsection 1.3(6) of Form 51-102F6 Statement of 
Executive Compensation, for that financial year; or 

(d) any individual who would be a NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact that the individual 
was neither an executive officer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, nor acting in a 
similar capacity, at the end of that financial year. 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

Goals and Objectives 

Given the Company’s present size and stage of development, the Board does not currently have 
an active compensation committee in place and, accordingly, the Board as a whole is responsible 
for determining the compensation (including long-term incentive in the form of stock options) to be 
granted to the Company’s executive officers and directors to ensure that such arrangements 
reflect the responsibilities and risks associated with each position.  Management directors are 
required to abstain from voting with respect to their own compensation. 

The Board reviews, on an annual basis, the corporate goals and objectives relevant to executive 
compensation, evaluates each executive officer’s performance in light of those goals and 
objectives and sets the executive officer’s compensation level based, in part, on this evaluation.  
The Board also takes into consideration the Company’s overall performance, shareholder returns 
and the awards given to executive officers in past years. 

The Board’s compensation philosophy is aimed at attracting and retaining qualified and 
experienced people, which is critical to the success of the Company, and may include a “pay-for-
performance” element which supports the Company’s commitment to delivering strong 
performance for its shareholders. 

Executive Compensation Program 

Executive compensation is comprised of two main elements: base fee or salary and long-term 
incentive compensation (option-based awards).  The Board reviews both components in assessing 
the compensation of individual executive officers. 

Base fees or salaries are intended to provide current compensation and a short-term incentive for 
executive officers to meet the Company’s goals, as well as to remain competitive within the 
industry.  Base fees or salaries are compensation for job responsibilities and reflect the level of 
skills, expertise and capabilities demonstrated by the executive officers. 
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Stock options are an important part of the Company’s long-term incentive strategy for its executive 
officers, permitting them to participate in an appreciation of the market value of the Company’s 
shares over a stated period of time.  Stock options are intended to reinforce commitment to long-
term growth of the Company and shareholder value.  They reward overall corporate performance, 
as measured through the price of the Common Shares, and enable executives to acquire and 
maintain a significant ownership position in the Company.  See “Share Based Awards and Option 
Based Awards” below. 

The Company has not retained a compensation consultant or advisor to assist the Board in 
determining compensation for any of the Company’s directors or officers.  Given the Company’s 
current stage of development, the Company has not considered the implications of the risks 
associated with the Company’s compensation practices.  Although the Company has not adopted 
a formal policy forbidding a NEO or director from purchasing financial instruments that are 
designed to hedge or offset a decrease in market value of equity securities granted as 
compensation or held, directly or indirectly, by the NEO or director, the Company is not aware of 
any NEO or director having entered into this type of transaction. 

Share-Based and Option-Based Awards 

Executive officers of the Company, as well as directors, employees and consultants, are eligible to 
participate in the Company’s Stock Option Plan (the “Stock Option Plan”) to receive grants of 
stock options.  The Company regards the strategic use of incentive stock options as a cornerstone 
of the Company’s compensation plan.  It applies to employees at all levels and continues to be one 
of the Company’s primary tools for attracting, motivating and retaining qualified employees, which 
is critical to the Company’s success.  The Company is committed to long-term incentive programs 
that promote the continuity of an excellent management team and, therefore, the long-term 
success of the Company.  The Company established the Stock Option Plan as an incentive to 
serve the Company in attaining its goal of improving shareholder value. 

The Board is responsible for administering the Stock Option Plan and determining the type and 
amount of compensation to be paid to directors, officers, employees and consultants of the 
Company.  Stock options are typically part of the overall compensation package for executive 
officers and employees.  In evaluating option grants to a NEO, the Board evaluates a number of 
factors including, but not limited to: (i) the number of options already held by such NEO; (ii) a fair 
balance between the number of options held by the NEO concerned and the other executives of 
the Company, in light of their responsibilities and objectives; and (iii) the value of the options 
(generally determined using a Black-Scholes analysis) as a component in the NEO’s overall 
compensation package.  For more details of the Stock Option Plan, see “Stock Option Plan”. 

Compensation Governance 

The Board has not adopted any specific policies or practices to determine the compensation for 
the Company’s directors and officers, other than disclosed above.  Given the Company’s current 
stage of development, the Company does not currently have an active compensation committee in 
place. 

Summary Compensation Table 

Particulars of compensation paid to each NEO in the financial years ended December 31, 2015, 
2014 and 2013 is set out in the summary compensation table below: 
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Name and 
principal 
position 

Year 
Ending 

Salary(10) 
($) 

Share-
based 

awards(11)

($) 

Option-
based 

awards(10)

($) 

Non-equity incentive 
plan compensation 

($) 

Pension 
value 

($) 

All other 
compen-

sation 
($) 

Total 
compen-

sation 
($) 

Annual 
incentive 

plans 

Long-
term 

incentive 
plans 

 
Michael 
Sweatman(1) 

Former CFO, 
Secretary and 
Director 

 
12/31/15 

 
12/31/14 

 
12/31/13 

 
N/A 

Nil 

10,000(2) 

 
N/A 

Nil 

Nil 

N/A 

Nil 

14,000
(13)

 

N/A 

Nil 

Nil 

N/A 

Nil 

Nil 

 
N/A 

Nil 

Nil 

N/A 

Nil 

Nil 

N/A 

Nil 

24,000 

 
Paul 
Andreola(3) 

President, CEO 
and Director 

 
12/31/15 

 
12/31/14 

 
12/31/13 

 
54,000(4) 

 
82,500(5) 

 
41,000(6) 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 
 

40,687
(12)

 
 

33,600(13) 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

54,000 
 

123,187 
 

74,600 

 
Scott 
MacEachern(7) 
CFO and 
Secretary 

 
12/31/15 

 
12/31/14 

 
12/31/13 

 
18,000(8) 

 
25,000(9) 

 
N/A 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
N/A 

Nil 
 

13,939
(12)

 
 

N/A 

Nil 
 

Nil 
 

N/A 

Nil 
 

Nil 
 

N/A 

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
N/A 

Nil 
 

Nil 
 

N/A 

18,000 
 

38,939 
 

N/A 

Notes: 

(1) Michael Sweatman was appointed CFO and Secretary of the Company on November 17, 2010.  Michael Sweatman resigned 
from those positions on March 5, 2014. 

(2) In 2013, Michael Sweatman was paid management fees of $10,000 for services provided. He was also granted 100,000 options 
on September 27, 2013. 

(3) Paul Andreola was appointed as President and CEO of the Company on February 19, 2013. 

(4) In 2015, Paul Andreola was paid management fees of $27,000 and was owed $27,000 at December 31, 2015 for 
services provided. He was not granted any options during 2015. 

(5) In 2014, Paul Andreola was paid management fees of $67,500 and was owed $15,000 at December 31, 2014 for 
services provided. He was also granted 140,000 options during 2014. 

(6) In 2013, Paul Andreola was paid management fees of $41,000 and was owed $15,000 at December 31, 2013 for 
services provided. He was also granted 240,000 options during 2013. 

(7) Scott MacEachern was appointed the CFO and Secretary of the Company on March 5, 2014. 

(8) In 2015, Scott MacEachern was paid management fees of $8,550 and was owed $9,450 at December 31, 2015 for 
services provided.  He was not granted any options during 2015. 

(9) In 2014, Scott MacEachern was paid management fees of $17,500 and was owed $7,500 at December 31, 2014 for 
services provided. He was also granted 150,000 options during 2014. 

(10) The value of perquisites including property or other personal benefits provided to a NEO that are generally available to all 
employees, and that in the aggregate are worth less than $50,000, or are worth less than 10% of a NEO’s total salary for the 
financial year, are not reported herein. 

(11) The Company has not granted any restricted shares or restricted share units, stock appreciation rights or long-term incentive 
plan payouts to NEOs. 

(12) The fair value of stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted 
average assumptions: dividend yield 0%; expected annual volatility 198%; risk-free interest rate 1.80%; market share price of 
$0.23; forfeiture rate of 0% and expected life of 5 years.  The weighted average fair value of options granted was $0.23 per 
option. The Black Scholes pricing model was used to estimate the fair value as it is the most accepted methodology. 

(13) The fair value of stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted 
average assumptions: dividend yield 0%; expected annual volatility 172%; risk-free interest rate 1.86%; market share price of 
$0.15; forfeiture rate of 0% and expected life of 5 years.  The weighted average fair value of options granted was $0.14 per 
option. The Black-Scholes pricing model was used to estimate the fair value as it is the most accepted methodology. 

Other than as set forth above, no NEO received, during the most recently completed financial year: 

(a) any standard arrangement for the compensation of NEOs for their services in their 
capacity as  NEOs, including any  additional amounts payable for  committee participation 
or special assignments; 

(b) any other arrangement, in addition to, or in lieu of, any standard arrangement, for the 
compensation of NEOs in their capacity as NEOs; or 
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(c) any arrangement for the compensation of NEOs for services as consultants or expert. 

Incentive Plan Awards 

An “incentive plan” is any plan providing compensation that depends on achieving certain 
performance goals or similar conditions within a specified period.  An “incentive plan award” 
means compensation awarded, earned, paid or payable under an incentive plan. 

Outstanding Share-Based Awards and Option-Based Awards 

The following table sets forth all option-based grants to NEOs that were outstanding as of 
December 31, 2015, including awards granted before the year ended December 31, 2015: 

 

Name 

Option-based Awards 

Number of 
securities 
underlying 

unexercised options
(#) 

Exercise 
price 

($) Expiration date 

Value of 
unexercised in-

the-money 
options 

($) 

Paul Andreola 
President and CEO 

30,000 

240,000 

140,000 

$0.75 

$0.15 

$0.30 

October 18, 2016 

September 27, 2018 

February 28, 2019 

N/A(1) 

N/A(1) 

N/A(1) 

Scott MacEachern 
CFO and Secretary 

150,000 $0.10 December 12, 2019 N/A(1) 

Note: 

(1) The options held by the NEO were not in-the-money as of December 31, 2015.  The closing price of the common 
shares on December 31, 2015 was $0.06. 

Pension Plan Benefits 

The Company does not have any pension plans that provide for payments or benefits at, following, 
or in connection with retirement.   The Company has no deferred compensation plans. 

Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

The Company does not have any contracts, agreements, plans or arrangements that provide for 
payments to any NEO or director at, following, or in connection with any termination (whether 
voluntary, involuntary or constructive), resignation, retirement, a change in control of the Company 
or a change in a NEO’s or director’s responsibility. 

Director Compensation  

The following table sets forth the details of all compensation provided to the directors of the 
Company, other than directors who were also NEOs, during the year ended December 31, 2015: 

Name 

Fees 
Earned 

($) 

Share-
based 

Awards 
($) 

Option-
based 

Awards 

($) 

Non-Equity 
Incentive Plan 
Compensation 

($) 

Pension 
Value 

($) 

All Other 
Compensation 

($) 
Total 

($) 

Colin Bowkett(1) 18,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 18,000 

Steve 
Vestergaard 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Note: 

(1) In 2015, Mr. Bowkett was paid management fees of $8,550 and was owed $9,450 at December 31, 2015 for services provided. 
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During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, Colin Bowkett was paid management fees for services 
provided to the Company and he did not receive any directors’ fees.  Directors are entitled to be 
reimbursed for reasonable expenditures incurred in performing their duties as directors and may receive 
cash bonuses from time to time which the Company awards to directors for serving in their capacity as a 
member of the Board.  Executive officers who also act as directors of the Company do not receive any 
additional compensation for services rendered in their capacity as directors 

Directors are also entitled to participate in the Stock Option Plan, which is designed to give each option 
holder an interest in preserving and maximizing shareholder value in the longer term. Individual grants are 
determined by an assessment of each individual director’s current and expected future performance, level 
of responsibilities and the importance of his position and contribution to the Company. 

Outstanding Share-Based Awards and Option-Based Awards 

The  following  table  sets  forth  all  option-based  awards  granted  to  directors  that  were outstanding  as  
of  December  31,  2015,  including  awards  granted  before  the  year  ended December 31, 2015: 
 

Name 

Option-based Awards 

Number of securities 
underlying unexercised 

options 
(#) 

Option 
exercise 

price 
($) 

Option expiration 
date 

Value of unexercised 
in-the-money options

($) 
 

 
Colin Bowkett 

 
30,000 

 
100,000 

 
70,000 

0.75 
 

0.15 
 

0.30 

October 18, 2016 
 
September 27, 2018 
 
February 28, 2019 

 
N/A(1) 

N/A(1) 

N/A(1) 

 
 
Steve Vestergaard 

 
200,000 

 
70,000 

0.15 
 

0.30 

September 27, 2018 
 
February 28, 2019 

 
N/A(1) 

N/A(1) 

Note: 

(1) The options held by the NEOs were not in-the-money as of December 31, 2015.  The closing price of the Common 
Shares on December 31, 2015 was $0.06 

16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 

16.1 Not applicable. 

16.2  Not applicable. 

17.  Risk Factors 

17.1 There are numerous and varied risks, known and unknown, that may prevent the Company from 
achieving its goals.  If any of these risks actually occur, the Company’s business, financial 
condition or results of operation may be materially adversely affected.  In such case, the trading 
price of the Company’s common shares could decline and investors could lose all or part of their 
investment.  The following is a summary of certain risks that may be applicable to the business of 
the Company: 

No Operating History as an Investment Issuer 

The Company does not have any record of operating as an Investment Issuer. As such the Company will 
be subject to all of the business risks and uncertainties associated with any new business enterprise, 
including the risk that the Company will not achieve its financial objectives as estimated by Management. 
Furthermore, past successes of the Management or the Board in other ventures do not guarantee future 
success. 
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Risks of Competition 

The Company will face competition from other capital providers, all of which compete with it for investment 
opportunities. These competitors may limit the Company’s opportunities to acquire interests in investments 
that are attractive to the Company. The Company may be required to invest otherwise than in accordance 
with its Investment Objectives and Strategy in order to meet its investment objectives. If the Company is 
required to invest other than in accordance with its Investment Policy and strategy, its ability to achieve its 
desired rates of return on its investments may be adversely affected. 

Risks of Fluctuations in the Value of the Company and the Common Shares 

The net asset value of the Company and market value of the Company’s common shares will fluctuate with 
changes in the market value of the Company’s investments. Such changes in value may occur as the 
result of various factors, including general economic and market conditions, the performance of 
corporations whose securities are part of the Company’s investment portfolio and changes in interest rates 
which may affect the value of interest-bearing securities owned by the Company. There can be no 
assurance that Shareholders will realize any gains from their investment in the Company and may lose 
their entire investment. 

Due Diligence 

The due diligence process undertaken by the Company in connection with investments that it makes or 
wishes to make may not reveal all relevant facts in connection with an investment. Before making 
investments, the Company will conduct due diligence investigations that it deems reasonable and 
appropriate based on the facts and circumstances applicable to each investment. When conducting due 
diligence investigations, the Company may be required to evaluate important and complex business, 
financial, tax, accounting, environmental and legal issues. Outside consultants, legal advisors, accountants 
and investment banks may be involved in the due diligence process in varying degrees depending on the 
type of investment. Nevertheless, when conducting due diligence investigations and making an 
assessment regarding an investment, the Company will rely on resources available, including information 
provided by the target of the investment and, in some circumstances, third party investigations. The due 
diligence investigations that are carried out with respect to any investment opportunity may not reveal or 
highlight all relevant facts that may be necessary or helpful in evaluating such investment opportunity. 
Moreover, such an investigation will not necessarily result in the investment being successful. 

Risks of Investment in Illiquid Securities 

There is a possibility that the Company will be unable to dispose of illiquid securities held in its portfolio 
and if the Company is unable to dispose of some or all of its investments at the appropriate time, a return 
on such investment may not be realized. 

Loss of Investment Risk 

An investment in the Company is speculative and may result in the loss of a substantial portion of an 
investor's investment. Only potential investors who are experienced in high risk investments and who can 
afford to lose a substantial portion of their investment should consider an investment in the Company. 

No Guaranteed Return Risk 

There is no guarantee that an investment in the Company will earn any positive return in the short term or 
long term. 

Dividends 

To date, the Company has not paid dividends on any of its common shares and the Company is not 
required to pay any dividends on its common shares in the foreseeable future. Any decision to pay 
dividends will be made on the basis of the Company’s earnings, financial requirements and other 
conditions. 

Currency Risk 
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Some of the Company’s assets may be invested in foreign securities. Consequently, the Canadian dollar 
equivalent of the Company’s net denominated assets and dividends would be adversely affected by 
reductions in the value of the applicable foreign currencies relative to the Canadian dollar and would be 
positively affected by increases in the value of the applicable foreign currencies relative to the Canadian 
dollar. 

Commodity Risk 

The Company may invest in sectors that are very sensitive to the fluctuations of commodity prices. 

Foreign Investment Risks 

Foreign investments made by the Company in specific sectors such as natural resource, industrial or 
technology may be subject to political risks, risks associated with changes in foreign exchange rates, 
foreign exchange control risks and other similar risks. 

Risk of Lack of Diversification of Investments 

Investments concentrated in specific sectors such as natural resource, industrial or technology are 
generally more volatile than the overall market. Investing in only one specific sector of the stock market, 
such as the energy sector, entails greater risk (and greater potential reward) than investing in all sectors of 
the stock market. If a sector declines or falls out of favour, the share values of most or all of the 
corporations in that sector will generally fall faster than the market as a whole. The opposite is also true.  

Natural resource, Industrial, or Technology Sector Risks 

Investing in natural resource, industrial or technology corporations can be speculative in nature and the 
value of the Company’s investments may be subject to significant fluctuations. Such businesses entail a 
degree of risk, regardless of the skill and experience of the corporation’s management. The assets, 
earnings and share values of corporations involved in the natural resource, industrial or technology 
corporations industries are subject to risks associated with the world prices of various natural resource, 
industrial, or technology sectors respectively, forces of nature, economic cycles, commodity prices, 
exchange rates, royalty and taxation changes and political events. Government restrictions, such as price 
regulations, production quotas, royalties and environmental protection, can also be factors. 

Ability to Develop and Operate Key Projects 

The ability to explore natural resource, industrial, or technology projects is subject to many risks and 
uncertainties. These include: the ability to define mineral resources and conceptual estimates of tonnes 
and grade of a mineral deposit into mineral reserves; completion of feasibility studies, obtaining and 
maintaining various permits and approvals from governmental authorities; construction risk; securing 
required surface and other land rights; potential resistance from stakeholders and other interested parties; 
political and social risk; and obtaining adequate financing. 

Equity Market Risk 

The price of the equity securities in which the Company may invest are influenced by the issuing 
corporation’s outlook, market activity and regional, national and international economic conditions. When 
the economy is expanding, the outlook for many corporations is equally promising, and the value of their 
equity securities should rise in agreement. The opposite is also true. Typically, the greater the potential 
reward, the greater the potential risk. For small corporations and corporations in the emerging sectors the 
risk and reward ratio is usually greater. Equity-related securities, which give indirect exposure to the equity 
value of a corporation such as warrants and convertible securities, can also be affected by this equity risk. 

Private Corporation Risks 

Investments in natural resource, industrial or technology private corporations cannot be resold without a 
prospectus, an available prospectus exemption or an appropriate ruling under relevant securities 
legislation. Even if they can be sold, there may not be a market for such securities. This may impair the 
Company’s ability to react quickly to market conditions or negotiate the most favourable terms for exiting 
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such investments. Investments in private corporations may offer relatively high potential returns, but will 
also be subject to a relatively high degree of risk. The process of valuing investments in natural resource, 
industrial or technology private corporations will inevitably be based on inherent uncertainties and the 
resulting values may differ from values that would have been used had a ready market existed for the 
investments. 

Dependence Upon Key Management 

The Company will depend on the business and technical expertise of its management and key personnel. 
There is little possibility that this dependence will decrease in the near term. As the Company’s operations 
expand, additional general management resources will be required. The Company may not be able to 
attract and retain additional qualified personnel and this would have a negative effect on the Company’s 
operations. 

Conflicts of Interest 

Conflicts of interest may arise as a result of the directors, officers and promoters of the Company also 
holding positions as directors and/or officers of other companies. Some of those persons who are directors 
and officers of the Company have and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation of 
assets and businesses and companies on their own behalf and on behalf of other companies; accordingly, 
situations may arise where the directors and officers may be in direct competition with the Company. 
Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies under the Business Corporations Act 
(British Columbia). 

18. Promoters  

18.1 Other than directors and officers of the Company, management is not aware of any person or 
company who could be characterized as a promoter of the Company within two years immediately 
preceding the date of this Listing Statement. 

18.2 Not applicable. 

19. Legal Proceedings 

19.1 Not applicable. 

19.2 Not applicable. 

20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 

20.1 No director, officer, proposed management nominee for director or person who, to the knowledge 
of the directors or officers of the Company, beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises 
control or direction over more than 10% of the votes attached to all outstanding Shares of the 
Company, informed person or any associate or affiliate of the foregoing has any material interest, 
direct or indirect, in any transaction since the commencement of the Company’s last financial year 
or in any proposed transaction, which, in either case, has materially affected or will materially 
affect the Company. 

21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 

21.1 The auditor of the Company is Crowe MacKay LLP, having an address at Suite 1100 – 1177 West 
Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 4T5. 

21.2 Computershare Trust Company of Canada, of 510 Burrard Street, 2nd Floor, Vancouver, BC V6C 
3B9, is the transfer agent who maintains the securities register and the register of transfers for the 
Company’s common shares. 
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22. Material Contracts 

22.1 Not Applicable. 

22.2 Not applicable. 

23 Interest of Experts 

No person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by the 
person or company and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this Listing 
Statement or as having prepared or certified a report or valuation described or included in this 
Listing Statement holds any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in any securities or property of the 
Issuer or of an Associate or Affiliate of the Issuer and no such person is expected to be elected, 
appointed or employed as a director, senior officer or employee of the Issuer or of an Associate or 
Affiliate of the Issuer and no such person is a promoter of the Issuer or an Associate or Affiliate of 
the Issuer. The Auditor is independent of the Issuer in accordance with the rules of professional 
conduct of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia. 

24. Other Material Facts 

24.1 Other than as set out elsewhere in this Listing Statement, there are no other material facts about 
the Issuer and its securities which are necessary in order for this Listing Statement to contain full, 
true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the Issuer and its securities. 

25. Financial Statements 

25.1  Annual Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 (audited) – Attached as 
Appendix C 

 Annual Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 (audited) – Attached as 
Appendix D 

 Annual Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 (audited) – Attached as 
Appendix E 

 Interim Financial Statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 (unaudited) – 
Attached as Appendix F 
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Shareholders of
Brisio Innovations Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Brisio Innovations Inc. and its
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes
in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the years  then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated  Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position

of Brisio Innovations Inc. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and its financial

performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards. 

Emphasis of matter
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements which
describes the material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the ability of Brisio Innovations Inc. to
continue as a going concern. 

"Crowe MacKay LLP"

Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, British Columbia 
April 15, 2015
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Brisio Innovations Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

December 31, December 31,

Notes 2014 2013

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 98,927 $ 238,302

Accounts receivable 8,070 39,129

GST recoverable 1,806 3,781

Prepaid expenses 2,327 2,429

111,130 283,641

Non-current assets

Software applications 7 167,402 53,975

Deposit on investments 8,9 150,000 -                  

317,402 53,975
$ 428,532 $ 337,616

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13 $ 182,161 $ 165,125

182,161 165,125

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital 10 19,670,082 19,334,037

Share subscriptions received 155,539 -                  

Contributed surplus 10 961,636 874,735

Deficit (20,540,886) (20,036,281)

246,371 172,491

$ 428,532 $ 337,616

Nature and continuance of operations (note 1)

Approved on behalf of the Board:

"Paul Andreola" Director

"Steve Vestergaard" Director

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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Brisio Innovations Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Year Ended December 31, 2014 2013

Notes

REVENUE

Gross revenue from software applications 12     68,180$       $ -                      

Cost of sales (81,412)        -                      

Gross profit (loss) (13,232)        -                      

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES
Bonus share issuance 13     14,400         -                      

Management fees 13     137,500       70,000            

Office and general 65,786         92,572            

Professional fees 106,532       79,412            

Share-based payment 10, 13 101,125       120,901          

Transfer agent and filing 31,537         42,740            

456,880       405,625          

Loss before other items (470,112)      (405,625)        

OTHER ITEMS

Foreign exchange gain (loss) (1,432)          (3,726)            

Interest and miscellaneous income -                   239                 

Write-off of accounts receivable (33,061)        -                      

(34,493)        (3,487)            

Loss and comprehensive loss for the year (504,605)$    (409,112)$      

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.03)$          (0.04)$            

Weighted average number of  shares outstanding 19,583,542  11,600,733     

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Brisio Innovations Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Share 

Number of Share Subscriptions Contributed

Shares Capital Received Surplus Deficit Total

Balance as at January 1, 2014 18,734,978 19,334,037$ -$                    874,735$     (20,036,281)$ 172,491$ 

Issue of share capital, net 1,242,331   336,045        -                      (14,224)        -                     321,821   

Share subscription proceeds -                  -                    155,539          -                   -                     155,539   

Share-based payment -                  -                    -                      101,125       -                     101,125   

Total comprehensive loss for the year -                  -                    -                      -                   (504,605)        (504,605)  

Balance as at December 31, 2014 19,977,309 19,670,082$ 155,539$        961,636$     (20,540,886)$ 246,371$ 

Share 

Number of Share Subscriptions Contributed

Shares Capital Received Surplus Deficit Total

Balance as at January 1, 2013 9,401,655   18,834,037$ -$                    753,834$     (19,627,169)$ (39,298)$  

Share-based payment -                  -                    -                      120,901       -                     120,901   

Issue of share capital, net 9,333,331   500,000        -                      -                   -                     500,000   

Adjustment (8)                -                    -                      -                   -                     -               

Total comprehensive loss for the year -                  -                    -                      -                   (409,112)        (409,112)  

Balance as at December 31, 2013 18,734,978 19,334,037$ -$                    874,735$     (20,036,281)$ 172,491$ 

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Brisio Innovations Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Year Ended December 31, 2014 2013

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED IN):

Operating activities

Net loss for the year (504,605)$         (409,112)$                

Adjustment for items not involving cash:

Foreign exchange loss 1,432                3,726                       

Write-off of accounts receivable 33,061              -                               

Amortization 69,844              -                               

Bonus share issuance 14,400              -                               

Share-based payment 101,125            120,901                   

(284,743)           (284,485)                  

Changes in non-cash working capital:

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable (2,001)               5,639                       

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17,035              48,415                     

Decrease (increase) in GST recoverable 1,975                (2,073)                      

Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 102                   (1,050)                      

(267,632)           (233,554)                  

Investing activities

Software applications (183,271)           (53,975)                    

Deposit on investments (150,000)           -                               

(333,271)           (53,975)                    

Financing activities

Share subscriptions received 155,539            -                               

Issuance of common shares 307,421            500,000                   

462,960            500,000                   

Foreign exchange on cash (1,432)               (3,726)                      

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (139,375)           208,745                   

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 238,302            29,557                     

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 98,927$            238,302$                 

Supplemental cash flow information

The Company paid no interest or income taxes.

The Company received no cash receipts for interest and income taxes.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, non-cash activity included: 

  a) transfer of $14,224 from contributed surplus to share captial upon stock option exercise.

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS  
  

Brisio Innovations Inc. (the “Company”) is a publicly listed company incorporated in Canada with 
limited liability under the legislation of the Province of British Columbia. The Company’s shares 
are listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”). The head office and principal address is 
580 Hornby Street, Suite 490, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 3B6. 
 
On February 7, 2014, the CSE approved the listing of the Company’s common shares on the 
CSE. At the close of trading on February 11, 2014, the Company’s shares were delisted from the 
TSX Venture Exchange.  
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the years ended December 
31, 2014 and 2013 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 
“Group”). The Group is primarily involved in the acquisition, development and marketing of 
software applications for mobile computing devices, such as smart phones, tablets and wearable 
computers. The Company was previously involved in the mining and petroleum and natural gas 
industries. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company completed a 5 for 1 share 
consolidation. All references to number of shares, warrants, stock options and per share amounts 
have been retroactively restated to reflect the consolidation, unless otherwise noted. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting 
principles applicable to a going concern, which assumes that the Group will be able to continue in 
operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its 
liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Group generated $68,180 (2013 - $Nil) in gross 
revenue from the sale of mobile software applications, has a working capital deficit of 
$71,031(2013 – working capital of $118,516) and an accumulated deficit of $20,540,886 (2013 - 
$20,036,281). These circumstances lend significant doubt as to the ability of the Company to 
meet its obligations as they come due, and accordingly, the appropriateness of the use of 
accounting principles applicable to a going concern. The Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern is dependent upon achieving profitable operations and upon obtaining additional 
financing.  The outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at this time.  These consolidated 
financial statements do not include any adjustments to the amounts and classification of assets 
and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue in business. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

(a) Statement of compliance: 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
 
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on April 
15, 2015. 
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For the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 
 

(b) Functional and presentation currency: 
 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the 
Group’s functional currency. 

 
(c) Basis of measurement: 

 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis 
except for financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss which are stated 
at their fair value.  

 
In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the 
accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow information. 

 
(d) Use of estimates and judgments: 

 
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to 
make certain judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results may differ 
from these estimates and assumptions. 
 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and 
in any future years affected. 

Significant accounting estimates:  

a. The inputs used in accounting for share-based payment in profit or loss;  

b. The judgement of indications of impairment of each property and related 
determination of the net realizable value and write-down of those properties where 
applicable; 

c. The tax basis of assets and liabilities and related deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities;  

d. Amounts of provisions, if any, for decommissioning obligations; and 

e. Rates of depreciation of intangible assets.  
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 
 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments (continued): 

Significant accounting judgments:  

a. The determination of categories of financial assets and financial liabilities has been 
identified as an accounting policy which involves judgments or assessments made by 
management; and  

b. The  analysis  of  the  functional  currency  for  each  entity  of  the  Group.  In  
concluding  that  the Canadian dollar is the functional currency of the parent and its 
subsidiary companies, management considered the currency that mainly influences 
the cost of providing goods  and  services  in  each jurisdiction  in  which  the  
Company  operates.  As  no  single  currency  was  clearly  dominant,  management 
also  considered  secondary  indicators  including  the  currency  in  which  funds  
from financing activities are denominated and the currency in which funds are 
retained. 

c. The going concern risk assessment (see note 1). 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by the Group. 
 

(a) Basis of consolidation 
 

(i) Subsidiaries:   
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company include its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, Green River Petroleum (USA) Inc., incorporated in the State of 
Washington, USA and Netco Argentina S.A., incorporated in Argentina. Both 
subsidiaries were inactive at December 31, 2014. 
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the 
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential 
voting rights that currently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial 
statements of a subsidiary are included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

 
(ii) Jointly controlled operations and jointly controlled assets: 
 

Many of the Group’s resource activities and oil and natural gas activities involve 
jointly controlled assets. The consolidated financial statements include the 
Group’s share of these jointly controlled assets and a proportionate share of the 
relevant revenue and related costs. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(a) Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 
(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation: 
 

Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and 
expenses arising from intercompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.  

 
(b) Foreign currency 

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on dates of transactions. At each financial position reporting date, 
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated. Any foreign currency gains or losses are recognized in net income (loss) for 
the period. 

 
(c) Financial instruments  

 

Financial Assets 

 
All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception into 
one of the following four categories: held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, loans-and-
receivables or at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 
 
Financial assets classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value with unrealized gains 
and losses recognized through profit and loss. Regular way purchases and sales of 
FVTPL financial assets are accounted for at trade date, as opposed to settlement date. 
The Group has classified its cash and cash equivalents as FVTPL. 
 
Financial assets classified as loans-and-receivables and held-to-maturity are measured 
at amortized cost. The Group’s accounts receivable are classified as loans-and-
receivables. 
 
Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) except for 
losses in value that are considered other than temporary. The Group has not classified 
financial assets as available-for-sale assets. 
 
Transactions costs associated with FVTPL and available-for-sale financial assets are 
expensed as incurred, while transaction costs associated with all other financial assets 
are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset. 
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For the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(c) Financial instruments (continued) 

 
Financial Liabilities 

 
All financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception as 
FVTPL or other-financial-liabilities. 
 
Financial liabilities classified as other-financial-liabilities are initially recognized at fair 
value less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other-financial-
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a 
financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the 
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. The Group’s 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other-financial-liabilities. 
 
Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and 
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as FVTPL. Derivatives, including 
separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments. Fair value changes on financial liabilities 
classified as FVTPL are recognized through profit and loss. The Group has not classified 
any financial liabilities as FVTPL. 

 The Group is not engaged in any financial derivative contracts. 
 
(d)   Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, and cash equivalents that are readily 
convertible into cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 

(e) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are recorded at cost upon acquisition and are depreciated over their 
estimated lives. Depreciation is expensed over the estimated useful life of the assets 
using the straight-line method. The Company monitors events and changes in 
circumstances which require an assessment of recoverability. If the carrying amount of 
the intangible assets is not recoverable, an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, 
determined by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to its fair value.   
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(f) Investments in associates 

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence. If the 
Company holds, directly or indirectly (i.e. through subsidiaries), 20% or more of the voting 
power of the investee, it is presumed the entity has significant influence, unless it can be 
clearly demonstrated that this is not the case. 

If the Company has significant influence over an investee, it must account for its 
investment in an associate using the equity method. Under the equity method, on initial 
recognition, the investment in an associate is recognized at cost and the carrying amount 
is increased or decreased to recognize the Company’s share of the profit or loss of the 
investee after the date of acquisition. The Company’s share of the investee’s profit or loss 
is recognized in the Company’s profit or loss. 

Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment. It 
may also be necessary to adjustment the carrying amount for changes in the Company’s 
proportionate interest in the investee arising from changes in the investee’s other 
comprehensive income. The Company’s share of those changes is recognized in the 
investor’s other comprehensive income. 

 
(g) Impairment  

  (i) Financial assets: 
 
A financial asset, other than those designated as FVTPL is assessed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is 
impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence 
indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is 
calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value 
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an 
individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in 
groups that share similar characteristics. 
 
All impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. An impairment loss is 
reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognized.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(g) Impairment (continued) 

 (ii) Non-financial assets: 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that 
are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets 
(the CGU).  The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the greater of its 
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  

 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
Value in use is generally computed by reference to the present value of the 
future cash flows expected to be derived from production of proven and probable 
reserves. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or 
its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGU’s 
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit 
(group of units) on a pro rata basis. 
 
Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depletion and depreciation or amortization, if 
no impairment loss had been recognized. 
 

(h) Revenue recognition 
 
The Group derives revenues from the sale of software and mobile applications through 
various platforms. The Group recognizes revenue when all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: (i) significant risks and rewards have transferred to the buyer; (ii) the Company 
no longer retains managerial involvement or effective control over the goods sold; (iii) the 
fee amount of revenue can be measured reliably; (iv) it is probable the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow to the Company; and (v) the costs incurred or to 
be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
For revenue earned through certain mobile platforms, revenue is recognized based on 
the gross amount because the Group is acting as the principal has the contractual right to 
determine the price to be paid. The related platform and payment processing fees are 
recorded as cost of sales in the period incurred. 
 
Advertising revenue for advertisements within the applications are recorded net of 
amounts retained by advertising networks. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(h) Revenue recognition (continued) 
 
For every contract signed, the Group examines its characteristics in order to determine 
whether it is appropriate to recognize the net or gross revenue from services rendered by 
agents. 

 

(i) Income tax 
 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is 
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that if the income tax expense related to 
items recognized directly in equity, the income tax expense would also be recognized in 
equity. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred tax is recognized using the liability method, providing for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset, and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on 
different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net 
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.  

 
A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred 
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

 

(j) Share capital 
  
 Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent 

that they do not meet the definition of a financial liability or financial asset. The 
Company’s common shares, share warrants and options are classified as equity 
instruments. 

 
 Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 

recognized as a deduction from equity.  
 

Valuation of equity units issued in private placements 
 
 The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of 

shares and warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(j) Share capital (continued) 
 
 allocates value to the more easily measurable component based on fair value and then 

the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.   
 
 The fair value of the common shares issued in the private placements was determined to 

be the more easily measurable component and were valued at their fair value, as 
determined by the closing quoted bid price on the announcement date.  The balance, if 
any, was allocated to the attached warrants.  Any fair value attributed to the warrants is 
recorded in contributed surplus.  

 
(k) Share-based payments 

  
 Where equity-settled share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the 

options at the date of grant is charged to profit or loss over the vesting period. 
Performance vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting the number of equity 
instruments expected to vest at each reporting date so that, ultimately, the cumulative 
amount recognized over the vesting period is based on the number of options that 
eventually vest. Non-vesting conditions and market vesting conditions are factored into 
the fair value of the options granted. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, 
a charge is made irrespective of whether these vesting conditions are satisfied. The 
cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting condition or 
where a non-vesting condition is not satisfied. 

  
 Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in 

the fair value of the options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is 
also charged to profit or loss over the remaining vesting period. 

 
 Where equity instruments are granted to non-employees, they are recorded at the fair 

value of the goods or services received in profit or loss, unless they are related to the 
issuance of shares. Amounts related to the issuance of shares are recorded as a 
reduction of share capital. 
 
When the value of goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment 
cannot be reliably estimated, the fair value is measured by use of a valuation model. The 
expected life used in the model is adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for 
the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioral considerations. 

 
 All equity-settled share-based payments are reflected in contributed surplus, until 

exercised. Upon exercise, shares are issued from treasury and the amount reflected in 
contributed surplus is credited to share capital, adjusted for any consideration paid. 

  
 Where a grant of options is cancelled or settled during the vesting period, excluding 

forfeitures when vesting conditions are not satisfied, the Company immediately accounts 
for the cancellation as an acceleration of vesting and recognizes the amount that 
otherwise would have been recognized for services received over the remainder of the  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(k) Share-based payments (continued) 

 
 vesting period. Any payment made to the employee on the cancellation is accounted for 
as the repurchase of an equity interest except to the extent the payment exceeds the fair 
 value of the equity instrument granted, measured at the repurchase date. Any such 
excess is recognized as an expense. 

 
(l) Earnings (loss) per share 
 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to 
common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per common share is 
computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares by the sum of 
the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all 
additional common shares that would have been outstanding, if potentially dilutive 
instruments were converted. 
 

(m) Changes in accounting policies 
 

The Company has adopted the new standards and interpretations issued by the IASB 
that were effective on January 1, 2014 as outlined below: 
 
IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements and IFRS 12, Disclosures of Interests in 
Other Entities and IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements 
 
IFRS 10 and 12 and IAS 27 have been amended with an effective date for annual periods 
beginning or after January 1, 2014.  The amendment provides for the definition of an 
investment entity and sets out an exception to consolidating particular subsidiaries of an 
investment entity.  The amendments also deal with the disclosures required and 
preparation of separate financial statements of an investment entity. 
 
IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation 
 
This amendment provides clarification on the application of offsetting rules. These 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 
 
IAS 36 - Impairment of Assets  
 
This amendment requires disclosure, in certain instances, of the recoverable amount of 
an asset or cash generating unit, and the basis for the determination of fair value less 
costs of disposal, when an impairment loss is recognized or when an impairment loss is 
subsequently reversed.  These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2014. 
 
The Company assessed the adoption of these new standards and interpretations and 
determined there was no impact to the financial statements for the current period or the 
prior periods presented. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(n) IFRS standards issued but not yet effective: 
 

Effective annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014: 
IFRS 2 Stock Based Compensation 

IAS 24 Related Party Transactions 

Effective annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015: 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

Effective annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016: 
IFRS 10 (Amendment) Consolidated Financial Statements 

IFRS 11 (Amendment) Joint Arrangements 

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

IAS 16 (Amendment) Property, Plant and Equipment 

IAS 27 (Amendment) Separate Financial Statements 

IAS 28 (Amendment) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

IAS 38 (Amendment) Intangible Assets 

Effective annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018: 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement 

 
The Group is currently assessing the impact that these standards will have on the 
financial statements. The Group plans to adopt these standards as soon as they become 
effective for the Group’s reporting period. 
 

4. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES  
 

Estimates of the fair value of financial instruments are made at a specific point in time, based on 
relevant information about financial markets and specific financial instruments.  As these 
estimates are subjective in nature, involving uncertainties and matters of significant judgement, 
they cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions can significantly affect 
estimated fair values.  At December 31, 2014, the Group's financial instruments include cash and 
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Cash and 
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are 
recognized on the statement of financial position at their carrying value which approximated their 
fair value due to their short-term nature. 
 
All financial instruments measured at fair value are categorized into a hierarchy that prioritizes the 
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.  The hierarchy gives the highest 
priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1 measurement) 
and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement).  The three levels of the fair 
value hierarchy are described below: 
 
Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 
Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 
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4. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES (continued) 
 
The following table sets forth the Group’s financial assets measured at fair value by level within 
the fair value hierarchy. 
 

December 31, 2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

     
Assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents $   98,927 $              - $               - $    98,927 

 

     

December 31, 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

     
Assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents $   238,302 $              - $               - $    238,302 

     

 
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
(a) Overview  

 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks that arise as a result of its 
exploration, development, production, and financing activities such as: 
 
■ market risk 
■ credit risk 
■ liquidity risk 
 
This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, 
the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. 
 
The Board of Directors oversees management’s establishment and execution of the 
Group’s risk management framework. Management has implemented and monitors 
compliance with risk management policies. The Group’s risk management policies are 
established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to market conditions and the 
Group’s activities. 
 

(b) Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
(b) Market risk (continued) 

 
(i) Interest rate risk 

 
The Group’s cash is held in bank accounts and due to the short-term nature of 
these financial instruments fluctuations in market interest rates do not have an 
impact on the fair value as at December 31, 2014. 

 
The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates is currently immaterial due to the short 
term maturity of its monetary assets and liabilities. 

 
(ii) Foreign currency risk 

 
Currency risk is the risk to the Group's earnings that arises from fluctuations of 
foreign exchange rates and the degree of volatility of these rates. The Group 
does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to foreign currency 
risk. 
 
At December 31, 2014, the Group had the following financial assets and 
liabilities in foreign currencies: 
 US Dollars Argentine Pesos 
Cash $     37,305 20,943 
Accounts receivable $             - 24,827 
Accounts payable $    19,725 231,602 
 
At December 31, 2014 US dollar amounts were converted at a rate of $1.00 US 
dollars to $1.1601 Canadian dollars and Argentine pesos amounts were 
converted at a rate of 1.00 Argentine pesos to $0.1371 Canadian dollars. 
  

(iii) Other price risk 
 
Other price risk is the risk that the fair or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, other than those 
arising from interest rate risk. The Group is not exposed to significant other price 
risk. 
 

(c) Credit risk  
 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a loss for the other 
party by failing to discharge an obligation. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents and 
accounts receivable are exposed to credit risk. The credit risk on cash and cash 
equivalents is considered small because the majority of funds have been placed with major 
Canadian and Argentinean financial institutions.  Management believes that the credit risk 
related to its accounts receivable is remote.  
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
(d) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities.  The Group’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to 
ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due.  
 
At December 31, 2014, the Group had a cash balance of $98,927, accounts receivable of 
$8,070 and GST recoverable of $1,806. The Group has accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities of $182,160. The Group intends to raise funds adequate to meet its liquidity 
needs for the next twelve months via private placement or the sale of over-performing 
investments. 
 

6. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Group considers its capital structure to include working capital and shareholders’ equity.  
Management’s objective is to ensure that there is sufficient capital to minimize liquidity risk and to 
continue as a going concern.  Management reviews its capital management approach on an 
ongoing basis and believes that its approach, given the relative size of the Group is reasonable.  
 
The Group is not subject to any external capital restrictions and the Group did not change its 
approach to capital management during the year. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



BRISIO INNOVATIONS INC. 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 
 

 

 21

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Depreciation of intangible assets is computed using the straight-line method and is recognized 
over a three year period. During the year ended December 31, 2014, $69,844 (2013 - $nil) of 
depreciation was recognized. 
 
Software Applications: 
 

Cost   
   
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ - 

Acquisitions  53,975 

Balance at December 31, 2013  53,975 

Acquisitions  183,271 

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 237,246 

 
Amortization   
   
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ - 

Amortization expense included in cost of sales  - 

Balance at December 31, 2013  - 

Amortization expense included in cost of sales  69,844 

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 69,844 

 

Carrying amounts 

 

 

   
December 31, 2013 $ 53,975 

December 31, 2014 $ 167,402 

 
In December 2013, the Company purchased all rights, intellectual property and online assets 
associated with the “On the Fly – Voice Translator” iOS mobile application (the “app”) for 
US$50,000 (C$53,975). 

On February 13, 2014, the Company purchased all rights, intellectual property and online assets 
associated with a portfolio of 40 applications for US$21,000 (C$23,428). The portfolio focuses on 
health and wellness and gaming apps. On February 18, 2014, the Company purchased all rights, 
intellectual property and online assets associated with Boostify for US$4,500 (C$5,062). 
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 

On March 27, 2014, the Company purchased all rights, intellectual property and online assets 
associated with “Spermy’s Journey, A Race To The Egg!”. The Company paid the vendor 
US$135,137 (C$149,462) as consideration for these assets. 

On July 8, 2014, the Company purchased all rights, intellectual property and online assets 
associated with the Intrusion application for US$5,000 (C$5,319). 

8. DEPOSIT ON INVESTMENT – OAKBRANCH MEDIA INC. 

 On June 9, 2014, the Company executed a Definitive Agreement to acquire up to 100% of the 
issued and outstanding securities of OakBranch Media Inc. (“OakBranch”) and its underlying 
assets. 

The terms of the Definitive Agreement are as follows:  
 
(a) in consideration for aggregate cash payments of $130,000, to be paid by the Company to 

OakBranch upon the achievement of certain milestones, the Company will acquire 
securities of OakBranch, sufficient to give the Company a 30% voting and equity interest 
in OakBranch; 

 
(b) OakBranch will grant the Company an option, that will expire June 8, 2015, to acquire 

additional securities of OakBranch, sufficient to give the Company an additional 19.9% 
voting and equity interest in OakBranch, bringing the Company’s total interest in 
OakBranch to 49.9%, exercisable upon: (i) the issuance by the Company to OakBranch 
250,000 common shares of the Company and (ii) the payment of $75,000 by the 
Company to OakBranch; and 

 
(c) OakBranch will cause each of the shareholders of OakBranch to grant the Company a 

right of first refusal to acquire the remaining 50.1% of the outstanding voting and equity 
interests of OakBranch. 

 
In addition, the Company will appoint one Director to OakBranch’s Board of Directors. 
 
As of December 31, 2014, the Company has made aggregate cash payments of $100,000 to 
OakBranch. As of December 31, 2014, the shares have not been issued. 
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9. DEPOSIT ON INVESTMENT – LITE ACCESS TECHNOLOGIES 
 

Deposit of investment in Lite Access Technologies Inc. consists of common shares issued 
subsequent to year end: 
 
In December 2014, the Group subscribed for 333,333 units of Lite Access Technologies Inc. 
(“Lite Access”) at a price of $0.15 per unit for a total purchase price of $50,000. Each unit is 
comprised of one common share of Lite Access, a privately held Canadian corporation, and one-
half of one share purchase warrant, with each whole warrant entitling the holder to acquire one 
additional common share of Lite Access at a price of $0.30 per share for one year from the date 
of issuance. As of December 31, 2014, the shares have not been issued. 
 

10. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

(a) Authorized 
 

  Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
  Unlimited number of preferred shares without par value. 
 

(b) Issued 
 

On August 26, 2013, the Company received TSX Venture Exchange approval for the 
consolidation of its common shares on a one (1) post-consolidations common share for 
every five (5) pre-consolidation common shares.  

  

 
Year ended 

December 31, 2014 
Year ended  

December 31, 2013 

 
Number of 

Shares 
 

Amount 
Number of  

Shares Amount 

Common shares:     

Balance, beginning of year 18,734,978 $19,334,037 9,401,655 $ 18,834,037 

Share consolidation adjustment - - (8) - 
     

Transactions during the year:     
     Private placement 960,998 279,088 9,333,331 500,000 

Bonus shares 48,000 14,400 - - 
     Options exercised 100,000 29,224 - - 

Warrants exercised 133,333 13,333 - - 

Balance, end of year 19,977,309 $19,670,082  18,734,978 $19,334,037  

 
On October 3, 2013, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement financing 
(the “Financing”) of 8,000,000 units (each, a “Unit”) at a price of $0.05 per Unit for gross 
proceeds of $400,000.  Each Unit consists of one common shares of the Company (each 
a “Share”) and one share purchase warrant (each, a “Warrant”).  One Warrant entitles the  
holder thereof to purchase one additional Share of the Company at a price of $0.10 per 
Share for a period of two years after closing of the Financing.   
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10. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(b) Issued (continued) 
 
On October 24, 2013, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement financing 
(the “Second Financing”) of 1,333,331 Units at a price of $0.075 per Unit for gross 
proceeds of $100,000.  Each Unit consists of one Share of the Company and one 
Warrant.  One Warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one additional Share of the 
Company at a price of $0.10 per Share for a period of two years after the closing of the 
Second Financing.   
 
In March 2014, 100,000 options were exercised at a price of $0.15. The share price for 
the options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2014 was $0.15. 
 
On April 10, 2014, the Company completed its non-brokered private placement financing 
pursuant to which it has issued 960,998 units (each, a “Unit”) at a price of $0.30 per Unit 
for net proceeds of $279,088.  Each Unit consists of one common share of the Company 
(each, a “Share”) and one-half of one share purchase warrant (each, a “Warrant”). Each 
whole warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one additional Share at a price of 
$0.45 per Share for a period of one year from closing of the Financing, subject to an 
acceleration provision whereby, in the event that the Shares trade above $0.60 per Share 
for a period of ten consecutive trading days, the Company may accelerate the expiry date 
of the Warrants to a date that is thirty days after the completion of such period. 
 
Per the August 2013 loan agreements, a total of 48,000 bonus shares were issued on 
April 14, 2014. 
 
On April 28, 2014, 33,333 outstanding warrants were exercised at a price of $0.10 per 
share. 

  
On November 7, 2014, 100,000 outstanding warrants were exercised at a price of $0.10 
per share. 

 
(c)  Stock options  

 
The Company has a stock option plan in accordance with the policies on the TSX 
Venture Exchange whereby, from time to time at the discretion of the Board of Directors, 
stock options are granted to directors, officers and certain consultants.   

 
Under the plan up to 10% of the total number of issued common shares of the Company, 
calculated on a non-diluted basis, at the time an option is granted are available for the 
issuance of stock options.  The exercise price of each option is based on the market price 
of the Company’s common stock at the date of the grant less an applicable discount.  
The options can be granted for a maximum term of 10 years. The maximum number of 
options that may be granted to any one person must not exceed 5% of the common 
shares issued and outstanding at the time of grant unless disinterested shareholder 
approval is obtained. Any options granted to consultants or persons performing Investor 
Relations under the Amended Stock Option Plan shall vest to the optionee as follows: 
25% at date of grant, 25% six months from date of grant, 25% nine months from date of  
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10. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 
(c) Stock options (continued)  

 
grant and the remaining 25% twelve months from the date of grant. All other options 
granted under the Amended Stock Option Plan shall have vesting terms set at the 
discretion of the Board of Directors. 
 
On September 27, 2013, the Company granted a total of 850,000 stock options to 
officers, directors and consultants at an exercise price of $0.15 per share for a period of 5 
years.  
 
On February 28, 2014, the Company granted a total of 300,000 stock options to officers, 
directors and consultants at an exercise price of $0.30 per share for a period of 5 years. 
 
In March 2014, 100,000 options were exercised at a price of $0.15. 
 
On December 12, 2014, the Company granted a total of 150,000 stock options to an 
officer at an exercise price of $0.10 per share for a period of 5 years. 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, $101,125 (2013 - $120,901) has been recorded 
as share-based payment relating to options issued and fully vested during the year. The 
fair value of stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model 
with the following weighted average assumptions: Dividend yield 0% (2013 – 0%), 
expected annual volatility 198% (2013 – 172%); risk-free interest rate 1.80% (2013 – 
1.86%); market share price of $0.23 (2013 - $0.15); forfeiture rate of 0% and expected 
life of 5 years. Expected volatility was based on the historical share price volatility over 
the past 5 years. The expected life of the option was calculated based on the history of 
option exercises. 

  
A summary of the stock option activity is as follows: 
 

 December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013 

 Number 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price  Number 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
Balance, beginning of year 1,065,000 $0.26  428,000 $0.70 
Granted 450,000 0.23  850,000 0.15 
Exercised (100,000) 0.15  - - 
Expired/Cancelled (90,000) (0.62)  (213,000) (0.74) 
     
Balance, end of year 1,325,000 $0.24  1,065,000 $0.26 

  
 As at December 31, 2014, the Company has outstanding directors’ and employees’ 
incentive stock options enabling the holders to acquire additional common shares as 
follows: 
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10. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 
(c) Stock options (continued) 

 

Number of options 
outstanding  

Number of options 
exercisable Exercise Price Expiry Date 

    
35,000 35,000 $ 0.60 March 4, 2016 
20,000 20,000 $0.825 April 28, 2016 
80,000 80,000 $0.75 October 18, 2016 

740,000 740,000 $0.15 September 27, 2018 
300,000 300,000 $0.30 February 28, 2019 
150,000 150,000 $0.10 December 12, 2019 

1,325,000 1,325,000  3.75 years remaining 

 
(d) Warrants   
 

 December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013 

 Number 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price  Number 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
Balance, beginning of year 9,976,831 $0.16  1,405,764 $1.05 
Issued 480,499 $0.45  9,333,331 $0.10     
Exercised (133,333) ($0.10)  - - 
Expired/Cancelled (643,500) ($1.10)  (762,264) ($1.01) 
      
Balance, end of year 9,680,497 $0.12  9,976,831 $0.16 

 
As at December 31, 2014, the Company has outstanding share purchase warrants 
entitling the holders to acquire additional common shares, as follows:  
 

Number of Warrants Exercise Price Expiry Date 
   

8,000,000 $0.10 October 3, 2015 
1,199,998 $0.10 October 24, 2015 

480,499 $0.45 April 10, 2015
(1) 

9,680,497   
(1)

 expired unexercised subsequent to year end. 
 

On April 28, 2014, 33,333 outstanding warrants were exercised at a price of $0.10 per 
share. 
 
On November 7, 2014, 100,000 outstanding warrants were exercised at a price of $0.10 
per share. 
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11. INCOME TAXES 
 

Income tax expense varies from the amount that would be computed from applying the combined 
federal and provincial income tax rate to loss before taxes as follows: 
 2014 2013 

Loss for the year before income tax $ (504,605) $ (409,112) 
Statutory Canadian corporate tax rate  26.00%  25.75% 

Anticipated tax recovery  (131,197)  (105,346) 

Change in tax rates resulting from:     
Effect of tax rate change  -  (47,100) 
Effect of jurisdictional tax rate difference  (5,973)  (4,421) 
Unrecognized items for tax  26,437  32,390 
Tax benefits not realized  110,773  124,477 

Income tax expense (recovery) $ - $ - 

 
The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows: 
 

  2014  2013 

Exploration and evaluation assets   $ 2,775,395 $   2,775,395 
Non-capital loss carry forwards    1,985,848  1,883,008 
Capital loss carry forwards    127,249  127,249 
Software applications    18,160  - 
Other    10,118  12,776 
    4,916,770  4,798,428 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets    (4,916,770)  (4,798,428) 

Deferred income taxes   $ - $ - 

 
At December 31, 2014, the Company has available non-capital tax losses for Canadian income 
tax purposes of $2,182,770 and net operating losses for US income tax purposes of $3,271,867 
(US$2,970,386) available for carry-forward to reduce future years’ taxable income, if not utilized, 
expiring as follows: 
 

  Canada  United States 

2018  $ - $ 1,387,021 

2027   113,090   152,685 

2028   378,101   280,495 

2029   259,831   367,360 

2030   166,062   442,758 

2031   316,115 318,805 

2032 373,867 318,778 

2033 269,756 1,716 

2034 305,948 2,249 

 $ 2,182,770  $        3,271,867
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12.  SEGMENTED REPORTING 
 
The Company is organized into business units based on unique software applications and has 
the following reportable operating segment results for the year ended December 31, 2014. These 
reportable segments did not exist in the prior year. 
 

 
$34,103 of the above revenue was generated from the Apple app store. 
 

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 

The aggregate amount of expenditures made to parties not at arm’s length to the Group for the 
years ending December 31, 2014 and 2013: 

December 31,   2014 2013 
Compensation of key management:   
 Management fees $  137,500 $     70,000      
             Share-based payment 95,313 92,453 
 $  232,813 $   162,453         
   

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2014 is $28,125 (2013 - 
$20,000) due to directors for unpaid management fees. During the year ended December 31, 
2013 a director loaned the Company $50,000 which was repaid with interest of $1,151 during the 
year and the director was issued 40,000 bonus shares (valued at $12,000) of the Company in 
April 2014.  
 
On May 9, 2013, three Directors of the Company each loaned the Company $750 for a total of 
$2,250 for general working capital.  These were considered short-term loans that were non-
interest bearing and were repaid during the fourth quarter of 2013. 
 
These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties, 
unless otherwise noted. 
 
There were no post-employment benefits, termination benefits or other long-term benefits paid to 
key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. 
 
 

 Spermy’s 
Journey 

On the Fly – 
Voice 

Translator 

Other software 
applications 

Total 

Total assets $107,945 $35,983 $23,474 $167,402 
Total liabilities $ Nil $ Nil $ Nil $ Nil 
     
Revenues $35,265 $28,332 $4,583 $68,180 
Amortization ($41,517) ($17,992) ($10,335) ($69,844) 
Cost of Sales ($700) ($8,989) ($1,879) ($11,568) 
Net Operating Income ($6,952) $1,351 ($7,631) ($13,232) 
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14. LOANS PAYABLE 
 
On August 6, 2013, the Company obtained an aggregate of $60,000 in loans, for 12 months, 
bearing interest at a rate of 12% per annum. These loans, in the amount of $60,000 principal plus 
interest of $1,381, were repaid in November 2013. 
 
The lenders had agreed to loan such funds to the Company in consideration for the Company 
issuing as a bonus an aggregate of 48,000 common shares of the Company to the lenders. The 
bonus shares were issued in the second quarter of 2014. 
 

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
On January 8, 2015, the Company closed its non-brokered private placement pursuant to which it 
sold an aggregate of 2,073,853 units at a price of $0.075 per unit for gross proceeds of $155,539. 
Each unit sold was comprised of one common share in the capital of the Company and one-half 
of one transferable share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire one 
common share at a price of $0.15 per share until January 7, 2016. The warrants are subject to an 
acceleration clause. 
 
On January 28, 2015, the Company closed its non-brokered private placement pursuant to which 
it sold an aggregate of 2,350,000 units at a price of $0.10 per unit for gross proceeds of 
$235,000. Each unit sold was comprised of one common share in the capital of the Company and 
one-half of one transferable share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire 
one common share at a price of $0.20 per share until January 27, 2016. The warrants are subject 
to an acceleration clause. 
 
On February 11, 2015, the Company completed an investment in Intema Solutions Inc. 
(“Intema”). The Company subscribed for 2,000,000 units of Intema at a price of $0.075 per unit 
for a total price of $150,000. Each unit is comprised of one common share of Intema and one 
share purchase warrant, with each warrant entitling the Company to acquire one additional share 
at a price of $0.15 per share for two years. 
 
 On March 9, 2015, 50,000 outstanding warrants were exercised at a price of $0.10 per share. 
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Shareholders of
Brisio Innovations Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Brisio Innovations Inc. and its subsidiaries, which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and the
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the years  then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated  Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Brisio
Innovations Inc. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 and its financial performance and its
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Emphasis of matter
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements which describes the
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the ability of Brisio Innovations Inc. to continue as a going concern. 

"Crowe MacKay LLP"

Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, British Columbia 
April 9, 2014
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Brisio Innovations Inc.
(formerly known as Netco Silver Inc.)

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

December 31, December 31,

Notes 2013 2012

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 238,302 $ 29,557

Accounts receivable 39,129 44,768

GST / HST recoverable 3,781 1,708

Prepaid expenses 2,429 1,379

283,641 77,412

Non-current assets

Software applications 8 53,975 -                  

53,975 -                  
$ 337,616 $ 77,412

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13 $ 165,125 $ 116,710

165,125 116,710

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital 10 19,334,037 18,834,037

Contributed surplus 10 874,735 753,834

Deficit (20,036,281) (19,627,169)

172,491 (39,298)

$ 337,616 $ 77,412

Nature and continuance of operations (note 1)

Commitment (note 14)

Subsequent events (note 15)

Approved on behalf of the Board:

"Paul Andreola" Director

"Steve Vestergaard" Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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Brisio Innovations Inc.
(formerly known as Netco Silver Inc.)

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Year Ended December 31, 2013 2012
Notes

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Management fees 13    70,000$            140,400$          

Office and general 92,572              127,914            

Professional fees 79,412              141,732            

Share-based compensation 10, 13 120,901            23,630              

Transfer agent and filing 42,740              21,102              

Write down of exploration and evaluation assets 7      -                        758,091            

405,625            1,212,869         

Loss before other items (405,625)           (1,212,869)        

OTHER ITEMS

Foreign exchange gain (loss) (3,726)               (66,629)             

Interest and miscellaneous income 239                   1,225                

(3,487)               (65,404)             

Loss and comprehensive loss for the year (409,112)$         (1,278,273)$      

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.04)$               (0.14)$               

Weighted average number of  shares outstanding 11,600,733       9,186,608         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Brisio Innovations Inc.
(formerly known as Netco Silver Inc.)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Number of Share Contributed

Shares Capital Surplus Deficit Total

Balance as at January 1, 2013 9,401,655    18,834,037$ 753,834$     (19,627,169)$ 39,298-$         

Share-based compensation -                   -                    120,901       -                     120,901         
Issue of share capital, net 9,333,331    500,000        -                   -                     500,000         

Adjustment (8)                 -                    -                   -                     -                     

Total comprehensive loss for the year -                   -                    -                   (409,112)        (409,112)        

Balance as at December 31, 2013 18,734,978  19,334,037$ 874,735$     (20,036,281)$ 172,491$       

Number of Share Contributed

Shares Capital Surplus Deficit Total

Balance as at January 1, 2012 8,064,655    18,041,108$ 717,380$     (18,348,896)$ 409,592$       
Share-based compensation -                   -                    23,630         -                     23,630           

Finder's warrants -                   (12,824)         12,824         -                     -                     

Issue of share capital, net 1,337,000    805,753        -                   -                     805,753         

Total comprehensive loss for the year -                   -                    -                   (1,278,273)     (1,278,273)     

Balance as at December 31, 2012 9,401,655    18,834,037$ 753,834$     (19,627,169)$ (39,298)$        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Brisio Innovations Inc.
(formerly known as Netco Silver Inc.)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Year Ended December 31, 2013 2012

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED IN):

Operating activities

Net loss for the year (409,112)$         (1,278,273)$             

Adjustment for items not involving cash:

Foreign exchange loss 3,726                66,629                     

Share-based compensation 120,901            23,630                     
Write down of exploration and evaluation assets -                        758,091                   

(284,485)           (429,923)                  

Changes in non-cash working capital:

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 5,639                (34,316)                    

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 48,415              28,305                     
Decrease (increase) in GST / HST recoverable (2,073)               5,444                       

Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses (1,050)               2,192                       

(233,554)           (428,298)                  

Investing activities

Exploration and evaluation assets -                        (487,805)                  
Software applications (53,975)             -                               

(53,975)             (487,805)                  

Financing activities

Issuance of common shares 500,000            763,253                   

500,000            763,253                   

Foreign exchange on cash (3,726)               (66,629)                    

Increase (decrease) in cash 208,745            (219,479)                  

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 29,557              249,036                   

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 238,302$          29,557$                   

Supplemental cash flow information

The Company paid $1,381 (2012 - $nil) for interest and $nil (2012 - $nil) for income taxes.

The Company received no cash receipts for interest and income taxes.

Non-cash investing and financing activities

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company issued nil (2012 - 250,000) common

shares with a value of $Nil (2012 - $42,500) pursuant to mineral exploration property agreements.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company issued nil (2012 - 320,600) finder's warrants

valued at $Nil (2012 - $12,824).

Cash and cash equivalents consists of: 2013 2012

                                               Cash 238,302$          6,357$                     

                                               Term deposits -                    23,200                     
238,302$          29,557$                   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS  
 

Brisio Innovations Inc. (formerly known as Netco Silver Inc.) (the “Company”) is a publicly listed 
company incorporated in Canada with limited liability under the legislation of the Province of 
British Columbia. At December 31, 2013, the Company’s shares were listed on the TSX Venture 
Exchange (“TSXV”). The head office and principal address is 580 Hornby Street, Suite 490, 
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 3B6. 
 
On February 7, 2014, the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) approved the listing of the 
Company’s common shares on the CSE. At the close of trading on February 11, 2014, the 
Company’s shares were delisted from the TSXV.  
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the years ended December 
31, 2013 and 2012 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 
“Group”). The Group is primarily involved in the acquisition, development and marketing of 
software applications for mobile computing devices, such as smart phones, tablets and wearable 
computers. The Company was previously involved in the mining and petroleum and natural gas 
industries. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company completed a 5 for 1 share 
consolidation. All references to number of shares, warrants, stock options and per share amounts 
have been retroactively restated to reflect the consolidation, unless otherwise noted. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting 
principles applicable to a going concern, which assumes that the Group will be able to continue in 
operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its 
liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. 
 
The Group currently has minimal revenues from the sale of mobile software applications, has a 
working capital of $118,516 (2012 – working capital deficiency of $39,298) and an accumulated 
deficit of $20,036,281 (2012 - $19,627,169). These circumstances lend significant doubt as to the 
ability of the Company to meet its obligations as they come due, and accordingly, the 
appropriateness of the use of accounting principles applicable to a going concern. The Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon achieving profitable operations and 
upon obtaining additional financing.  The outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at this 
time.  These consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to the amounts 
and classification of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable 
to continue in business. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

(a) Statement of compliance: 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
 
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on April 
9, 2014. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 
 

(b) Functional and presentation currency: 
 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the 
Group’s functional currency. 

 
(c) Basis of measurement: 

 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis 
except for financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss which are stated 
at their fair value.  

 
In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the 
accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow information. 

 
(d) Use of estimates and judgments: 

 
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to 
make certain judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results may differ 
from these estimates and assumptions. 
 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and 
in any future years affected. 

Significant accounting estimates:  

a. The inputs used in accounting for share-based compensation in profit or loss;  

b. The assessment of indications of impairment of each property and related 
determination of the net realizable value and write-down of those properties where 
applicable; 

c. The tax basis of assets and liabilities and related deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities;  

d. Amounts of provisions, if any, for decommissioning obligations; and 

e. Rates of depreciation of intangible assets.  
 
 
 



BRISIO INNOVATIONS INC. 
(Formerly known as Netco Silver Inc.) 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 
 

 

 9

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 
 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments (continued): 

Significant accounting judgments:  

a. The determination of categories of financial assets and financial liabilities has been 
identified as an accounting policy which involves judgments or assessments made by 
management; and  

b. The  analysis  of  the  functional  currency  for  each  entity  of  the  Group.  In  
concluding  that  the Canadian dollar is the functional currency of the parent and its 
subsidiary companies, management considered the currency that mainly influences 
the cost of providing goods  and  services  in  each jurisdiction  in  which  the  
Company  operates.  As  no  single  currency  was  clearly  dominant,  management 
also  considered  secondary  indicators  including  the  currency  in  which  funds  
from financing activities are denominated and the currency in which funds are 
retained. 

 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by the Group. 
 

(a) Basis of consolidation 
 

(i) Subsidiaries:   
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company include its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, Green River Petroleum (USA) Inc., incorporated in the State of 
Wyoming and in the State of Washington, USA and Netco Argentina S.A., 
incorporated in Argentina. Both subsidiaries were inactive at December 31, 
2013. 
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the 
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential 
voting rights that currently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial 
statements of a subsidiary are included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

 
(ii) Jointly controlled operations and jointly controlled assets: 
 

Many of the Group’s resource activities and oil and natural gas activities involve 
jointly controlled assets. The consolidated financial statements include the 
Group’s share of these jointly controlled assets and a proportionate share of the 
relevant revenue and related costs. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(a) Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 
(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation: 
 

Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and 
expenses arising from intercompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.  

 
(b) Foreign currency 

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on dates of transactions. At each financial position reporting date, 
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated. Any foreign currency gains or losses are recognized in net income (loss) for 
the period. 

 
(c) Financial instruments  

 

Financial Assets 

 
All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception into 
one of the following four categories: held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, loans-and-
receivables or at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 
 
Financial assets classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value with unrealized gains 
and losses recognized through profit and loss. Regular way purchases and sales of 
FVTPL financial assets are accounted for at trade date, as opposed to settlement date. 
The Group has classified its cash and cash equivalents as FVTPL. 
 
Financial assets classified as loans-and-receivables and held-to-maturity are measured 
at amortized cost. The Group’s accounts receivable are classified as loans-and-
receivables. 
 
Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) except for 
losses in value that are considered other than temporary. The Group has not classified 
any financial asset as available-for-sale. 
 
Transactions costs associated with FVTPL and available-for-sale financial assets are 
expensed as incurred, while transaction costs associated with all other financial assets 
are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(c) Financial instruments (continued) 

 
Financial Liabilities 

 
All financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception as 
FVTPL or other-financial-liabilities. 
 
Financial liabilities classified as other-financial-liabilities are initially recognized at fair 
value less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other-financial-
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a 
financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the 
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. The Group’s 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other-financial-liabilities. 
 
Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and 
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as FVTPL. Derivatives, including 
separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments. Fair value changes on financial liabilities 
classified as FVTPL are recognized through profit and loss. The Group has not classified 
any financial liabilities as FVTPL. 

 The Group is not engaged in any financial derivative contracts. 
 
(d)   Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, and cash equivalents that are readily 
convertible into cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 

(e) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are recorded at cost upon acquisition and are depreciated over their 
estimated lives. Depreciation is expensed over the estimated useful life of the assets 
using the straight-line method. The Company monitors events and changes in 
circumstances which require an assessment of recoverability. If the carrying amount of 
the intangible assets is not recoverable, an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, 
determined by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to its fair value.   
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(f) Exploration and evaluation assets 
 

Exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) costs are those expenditures incurred on properties 
for which technical feasibility and commercial viability have not been determined. 
Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of acquiring licenses, acquisition of 
rights to explore, geological and geophysical, drilling, sampling, trenching and survey 
costs, decommissioning and often directly attributable internal costs, initially are 
capitalized as exploration and evaluation assets. The costs are accumulated in cost 
centres by well, field or exploration area and not depreciated pending determination of 
technical feasibility and commercial viability. 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if (i) sufficient data exists 
to determine technical feasibility and commercial viability, and (ii) facts and 
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. For 
purposes of impairment testing, exploration and evaluation assets are allocated to cash-
generating units. 
 
The technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource is 
considered to be determinable when proven and/or probable reserves are determined to 
exist. A review of each exploration license or field is carried out, at least annually, to 
ascertain whether proven and/or probable reserves have been discovered. Upon 
determination of proven and/or probable reserves, exploration and evaluation assets 
attributable to those reserves are first tested for impairment and then reclassified from 
exploration and evaluation assets to property, plant and equipment or expensed to 
exploration and evaluation impairments. 

 
(g) Impairment  

  (i) Financial assets: 
 
A financial asset, other than those designated as FVTPL is assessed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is 
impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence 
indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is 
calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value 
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an 
individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in 
groups that share similar characteristics. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(g) Impairment (continued) 

  (i) Financial assets (continued): 
 
All impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. An impairment loss is 
reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognized.  

 (ii) Non-financial assets: 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that 
are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets 
(the CGU).  The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the greater of its 
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  

 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
Value in use is generally computed by reference to the present value of the 
future cash flows expected to be derived from production of proven and probable 
reserves. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or 
its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGU’s 
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit 
(group of units) on a pro rata basis. 
 
Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depletion and depreciation or amortization, if 
no impairment loss had been recognized. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(h) Revenue recognition 
 
The Group derives revenues from the sale of software and mobile applications through 
various platforms. The Group recognizes revenue when all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: (i) significant risks and rewards have transferred to the buyer; (ii) the Company 
no longer retains managerial involvement or effective control over the goods sold; (iii) the 
fee amount of revenue can be measured reliably; (iv) it is probable the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow to the Company; and (v) the costs incurred or to 
be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
According to IAS 18-7/18-8, a business which is acting as a principal in a transaction 
recognizes the amounts billed to the end client as revenue. In order to determine if a 
business is acting as a principal or as an agent, the risks and responsibilities taken by the 
business to deliver the goods or render the services should be evaluated. 
 
In this regard, the Group referred to IAS18.IE21, which provides a list of indicators to 
determine whether a business is acting as a principal or an agent. 
 
For every contract signed, the Group examines its characteristics in order to determine 
whether it is appropriate to recognize the net or gross revenue from services rendered by 
agents. 

 
(i) Decommissioning obligations  

 
When the Group’s activities give rise to dismantling, decommissioning and site 
disturbance remediation activities, provision is made for the estimated cost of site 
restoration and capitalized in the relevant asset category.  
 
Decommissioning obligations are measured at the present value of management’s best 
estimate of expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the statement of 
financial position date. Subsequent to the initial measurement, the obligation is adjusted 
at the end of each period to reflect the passage of time and changes in the estimated 
future cash flows underlying the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognized as finance costs whereas increases/decreases due to 
changes in the estimated future cash flows are capitalized. Actual costs incurred upon 
settlement of the asset retirement obligations are charged against the provision. 

 

(j) Income tax 
 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is 
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that if the income tax expense related to 
items recognized directly in equity, the income tax expense would also be recognized in 
equity. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(j) Income tax (continued) 
 
Deferred tax is recognized using the statement of financial position liability method, 
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax 
is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences 
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 
realized simultaneously.  

 
A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred 
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

 

(k) Share capital 
  
 Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent 

that they do not meet the definition of a financial liability or financial asset. The 
Company’s common shares, share warrants and options are classified as equity 
instruments. 

 
 Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 

recognized as a deduction from equity.  
 

Valuation of equity units issued in private placements 
 
 The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of 

shares and warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first 
allocates value to the more easily measurable component based on fair value and then 
the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.   

 
 The fair value of the common shares issued in the private placements was determined to 

be the more easily measurable component and were valued at their fair value, as 
determined by the closing quoted bid price on the announcement date.  The balance, if 
any, was allocated to the attached warrants.  Any fair value attributed to the warrants is 
recorded in contributed surplus.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(l) Share-based payments 
  
 Where equity-settled share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the 

options at the date of grant is charged to the statement of comprehensive loss/income 
over the vesting period. Performance vesting conditions are taken into account by 
adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at each reporting date so 
that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognized over the vesting period is based on 
the number of options that eventually vest. Non-vesting conditions and market vesting 
conditions are factored into the fair value of the options granted. As long as all other 
vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether these vesting 
conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a 
market vesting condition or where a non-vesting condition is not satisfied. 

  
 Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in 

the fair value of the options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is 
also charged to the statement of comprehensive loss over the remaining vesting period. 

 
 Where equity instruments are granted to non-employees, they are recorded at the fair 

value of the goods or services received in the statement of comprehensive loss/income, 
unless they are related to the issuance of shares. Amounts related to the issuance of 
shares are recorded as a reduction of share capital. 
 
When the value of goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment 
cannot be reliably estimated, the fair value is measured by use of a valuation model. The 
expected life used in the model is adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for 
the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioral considerations. 

 
 All equity-settled share-based payments are reflected in contributed surplus, until 

exercised. Upon exercise, shares are issued from treasury and the amount reflected in 
contributed surplus is credited to share capital, adjusted for any consideration paid. 

  
 Where a grant of options is cancelled or settled during the vesting period, excluding 

forfeitures when vesting conditions are not satisfied, the Company immediately accounts 
for the cancellation as an acceleration of vesting and recognizes the amount that 
otherwise would have been recognized for services received over the remainder of the 
vesting period. Any payment made to the employee on the cancellation is accounted for 
as the repurchase of an equity interest except to the extent the payment exceeds the fair  

 value of the equity instrument granted, measured at the repurchase date. Any such 
excess is recognized as an expense. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(m) Earnings (loss) per share 
 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to 
common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed similar to 
basic earnings (loss) per share except that the weighted average shares outstanding are 
increased to include additional shares for the assumed exercise of stock options and 
warrants, if dilutive. 

 
(n) New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 
 
In an effort to reduce the complexity of accounting for financial instruments, the IASB is 
engaged in a project to replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for classifying and measuring 
financial assets and liabilities, which may affect the Company’s accounting for its financial 
assets. Under this guidance, entities have the option to recognize financial liabilities at 
fair value through earnings. If this option is elected, entities would be required to reverse 
the portion of the fair value change due to a company’s own credit risk out of earnings 
and recognized the change in other comprehensive income. The application date of this 
standard has not been determined.  

 
IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements and IFRS 12, Disclosures of Interests in 
Other Entities and IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements 
 
IFRS 10 and 12 and IAS 27 have been amended with an effective date for annual periods 
beginning or after January 1, 2014.  The amendments provides for the definition of an 
investment entity and sets out an exception to consolidating particular subsidiaries of an 
investment entity.  The amendments also deal with the disclosures required and 
preparation of separate financial statements of an investment entity. 
 
IAS 32 - Financial Instruments 
 
Presentation, this amendment provides clarification on the application of offsetting rules. 
These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2014. 
 
IAS36 - Impairment of Assets  
 
This amendment requires disclosure, in certain instances, of the recoverable amount of 
an asset or cash generating unit, and the basis for the determination of fair value less 
costs of disposal, when an impairment loss is recognized or when an impairment loss is 
subsequently reversed.  These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2014. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(n) New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued) 
 
The Group is currently assessing the impact that this revised or new standard will have 
on the financial statements. 
 

4. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES  
 

Estimates of the fair value of financial instruments are made at a specific point in time, based on 
relevant information about financial markets and specific financial instruments.  As these 
estimates are subjective in nature, involving uncertainties and matters of significant judgement, 
they cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions can significantly affect 
estimated fair values.  At December 31, 2013, the Group's financial instruments include cash and 
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. These items 
are recognized on the statement of financial position at their carrying value which approximated 
their fair value due to their short-term nature. 
 
All financial instruments measured at fair value are categorized into a hierarchy that prioritizes the 
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.  The hierarchy gives the highest 
priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1 measurement) 
and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement).  The three levels of the fair 
value hierarchy are described below: 
 
Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 
 
Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

The following table sets forth the Group’s financial assets measured at fair value by level within 
the fair value hierarchy. 

December 31, 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

     
Assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents $   238,302 $              - $               - $    238,302 

 
 

December 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

     
Assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents $     29,557 $                - $               - $      29,557 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
(a) Overview  

 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks that arise as a result of its 
exploration, development, production, and financing activities such as: 
 
■ market risk 
■ credit risk 
■ liquidity risk 
 
This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, 
the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. 
 
The Board of Directors oversees management’s establishment and execution of the 
Group’s risk management framework. Management has implemented and monitors 
compliance with risk management policies. The Group’s risk management policies are 
established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to market conditions and the 
Group’s activities. 
 

(b) Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk. 

 
(i) Interest rate risk 

 
The Group’s cash is held in bank accounts and due to the short-term nature of 
these financial instruments fluctuations in market interest rates do not have an 
impact on the fair value as at December 31, 2013. 

 
The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates is currently immaterial due to the short 
term maturity of its monetary assets and liabilities. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
(b) Market risk (continued) 

 
(ii) Foreign currency risk 

 
Currency risk is the risk to the Group's earnings that arises from fluctuations of 
foreign exchange rates and the degree of volatility of these rates. The Group 
does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to foreign currency 
risk. 
 
At December 31, 2013, the Group had the following financial assets and 
liabilities: 
 US Dollars Argentine Pesos 
Cash $             - 3,765 
Accounts receivable $             - 234,513 
Accounts payable $    19,725 165,668 
 
At December 31, 2013 US dollar amounts were converted at a rate of $1.00 US 
dollars to $1.0636 Canadian dollars and Argentine pesos amounts were 
converted at a rate of 1.00 Argentine pesos to $0.1632 Canadian dollars. 
  

(iii) Other price risk 
 
Other price risk is the risk that the fair or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, other than those 
arising from interest rate risk. The Group is not exposed to significant other price 
risk. 
 

(c) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a loss for the other 
party by failing to discharge an obligation. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents and 
accounts receivable are exposed to credit risk. The credit risk on cash and cash 
equivalents is considered small because the funds have been placed with major Canadian 
and Argentinean financial institutions.  Management believes that the credit risk related to 
its accounts receivable is remote.  
 

(d) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities.  The Group’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to 
ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due.  
 
At December 31, 2013, the Group had a cash balance of $238,302, accounts receivable of 
$39,129 and GST / HST recoverable of $3,781. The Group has accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities of $165,125. 
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6. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Group considers its capital structure to include working capital and shareholders’ equity.  
Management’s objective is to ensure that there is sufficient capital to minimize liquidity risk and to 
continue as a going concern.  Management reviews its capital management approach on an 
ongoing basis and believes that its approach, given the relative size of the Group is reasonable.  
 
The Group is not subject to any external capital restrictions and the Group did not change its 
approach to capital management during the year. 
 

7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 
 
 
Balance, December 31, 2011 $ 227,786 
Additions  530,305 
Write down  (758,091) 
Balance, December 31 2012 $ - 

 
Argentina, Toruel property: 

 
In March 2011, the Company entered into an option agreement (the “Agreement”) with Marifil 
Mines Ltd. (“Marifil”) whereby Marifil granted the Company an option (the “Option”) to acquire up 
to a 75% interest in Marifil’s Toruel property located in the Rio Negro Province of the Republic of 
Argentina (the “Property”).  

On September 19, 2012, the Company and Marifil Mines Ltd. entered into an assignment and 
purchase agreement, whereby the Company agreed to purchase all of Marifil's 100-per-cent 
interest in the Toruel copper-silver project, located in the Rio Negro province of Argentina, and all 
exploration data related thereto.  

On November 26, 2012, the Company announced the assignment and purchase agreement 
dated September 19, 2012 was terminated. The Toruel property was returned to Marifil. 
Consequently, the Company wrote off the full value of the property as at September 30, 2012. 
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

In December 2013, the Company purchased all rights, intellectual property and online assets 
associated with the “On the Fly – Voice Translator” iOS mobile application (the “app”) for 
US$50,000 (C$53,975). 

Depreciation of intangible assets is computed using the straight-line method and is recognized 
over a three year period. During the year ended December 31, 2013, $nil depreciation was 
recognized. 

9. DECOMMISSIONING OBLIGATIONS 
 

No decommissioning liability has been accrued at December 31, 2013 for the Group’s 
properties as there has been no activity on the properties that would obligate the Group to do 
so. 

 
10. SHARE CAPITAL 

 
(a) Authorized 
 

  Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
  Unlimited number of preferred shares without par value. 
 

(b) Issued 
 

On August 26, 2013, the Company received TSX Venture Exchange approval for the 
consolidation of its common shares on a one (1) post-consolidations common share for 
every five (5) pre-consolidation common shares.  

  

 
Year ended  

December 31, 2013 
Year ended  

December 31, 2012 

 
Number of 

Shares 
 

Amount 
Number of  

Shares Amount 

Common shares:     

Balance, beginning of year 9,401,655 $ 18,834,037 8,064,655 $ 18,041,108 

Share consolidation adjustment (8) - - - 
     

Transactions during the year:     
     Private placement 9,333,331 500,000 1,287,000 750,429 
     Marifil option agreement - - 50,000 42,500 

Balance, end of year 18,734,978 $19,334,037  9,401,655 $18,834,037  

 
On February 20, 2012, in connection with the closing of the Agreement (described above 
in Note 7), the Company issued 50,000 common shares to Marifil as required under the 
terms of the Option Agreement with Marifil with respect to the Toruel Property. The price  
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10. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(b) Issued (continued) 
 
per share was based on the closing price on date of issuance, for a total value of 
$42,500. 
 
On February 29, 2012, the Company closed the first tranche of the non-brokered private 
placement financing, pursuant to which the Company issued 955,000 units at a price of 
$0.625 per unit for gross proceeds of $596,875. Each unit consisted of one common 
share of the Company and one half of one common share purchase warrant, and each 
warrant entitles the holder to purchase an additional common share at $1.10 per share 
for a period of 24 months from the closing of the financing. The warrants contain a 
provision providing that if the Company’s shares trade at a closing price in excess of 
$0.30 on the TSX Venture Exchange (or such other exchange on which the Company’s 
shares are then principally traded) for a period of 10 consecutive trading days, the 
Company may issue a notice accelerating the expiry date to 30 days from the date of 
such notice. In connection the closing of the first tranche, the Company paid aggregate 
cash commissions of $35,700 and issued an aggregate of 57,120 finder’s warrants, with 
each finder’s warrant exercisable into one common share at a price of $0.625 per share 
for a period of 18 months. 
 
On March 2, 2012, the Company closed the final tranche of the non-brokered private 
placement financing, pursuant to which the Company issued 332,000 units at a price of 
$0.625 per unit for gross proceeds of $207,500. Each unit consisted of one common 
share of the Company and one half of one common share purchase warrant and each 
warrant entitles the holder to purchase an additional common share at $1.10 per share 
for a period of 24 months from the closing of the financing. The warrants contain a 
provision providing that if the Company’s shares trade at a closing price in excess of 
$0.30 on the TSX Venture Exchange (or such other exchange on which the Company’s 
shares are then principally traded) for a period of 10 consecutive trading days, the 
Company may issue a notice accelerating the expiry date to 30 days from the date of 
such notice.  In connection with the closing of the final tranche, the Company paid 
aggregate cash commissions and fees of $5,422 and issued an aggregate of 7,000 
finder’s warrants, with each finder’s warrant exercisable into one common share at a 
price of $0.625 per share for a period of 18 months. 
 
A total fair value cost of $12,824 has been recognized as share issuance costs and has 
been recorded in contributed surplus in recognition of the fair value of the finder’s 
warrants issued in the first and second tranches of the private placements described 
above. 
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10. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(b) Issued (continued) 
 
On October 3, 2013, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement financing 
(the “Financing”) of 8,000,000 units (each, a “Unit”) at a price of $0.05 per Unit for gross 
proceeds of $400,000.  Each Unit consists of one common shares of the Company (each 
a “Share”) and one share purchase warrant (each, a “Warrant”).  One Warrant entitles the  
holder thereof to purchase one additional Share of the Company at a price of $0.10 per 
Share for a period of two years after closing of the Financing.   
 
On October 24, 2013, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement financing 
(the “Second Financing”) of 1,333,331 Units at a price of $0.075 per Unit for gross 
proceeds of $100,000.  Each Unit consists of one Share of the Company and one 
Warrant.  One Warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one additional Share of the 
Company at a price of $0.10 per Share for a period of two years after the closing of the 
Second Financing.   
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10. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 
(c)  Stock options  

 
The Company has a stock option plan in accordance with the policies on the TSX 
Venture Exchange whereby, from time to time at the discretion of the board of directors, 
stock options are granted to directors, officers and certain consultants.   

 
Under the plan up to 10% of the total number of issued common shares of the Company, 
calculated on a non-diluted basis, at the time an option is granted are available for the 
issuance of stock options.  The exercise price of each option is based on the market price 
of the Company’s common stock at the date of the grant less an applicable discount.  
The options can be granted for a maximum term of 10 years. The maximum number of 
options that may be granted to any one person must not exceed 5% of the common 
shares issued and outstanding at the time of grant unless disinterested shareholder 
approval is obtained. Any options granted to consultants or persons performing Investor 
Relations under the Amended Stock Option Plan shall vest to the optionee as follows: 
25% at date of grant, 25% six months from date of grant, 25% nine months from date of 
grant and the remaining 25% twelve months from the date of grant. All other options 
granted under the Amended Stock Option Plan shall have vesting terms set at the 
discretion of the Board of Directors. 
 
On April 12, 2012, the Company granted a total of 48,000 stock options to an officer and 
consultants at an exercise price of $0.75 per share for a period of 5 years. 
 
On September 27, 2013, the Company granted a total of 850,000 stock options to 
officers, directors and consultants at an exercise price of $0.15 per share for a period of 5 
years.  

 
For the year ended December 31, 2013, $120,901 (2012 - $23,630) has been recorded 
as share-based compensation relating to options issued and fully vested during the 
period. The fair value of stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: Dividend yield 0% (2012 
– 0%), expected annual volatility 172% (2012 – 124%); risk-free interest rate 1.86% 
(2012 – 1.16%); market share price of $0.15 (2012 - $0.12); forfeiture rate of 0% and 
expected life of 5 years. The weighted average fair value of options granted was $0.14 
(2012 - $0.12) per option. Expected volatility was based on the historical share price 
volatility over the past 5 years. The expected life of the option was calculated based on 
the history of option exercises. 
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10. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(c) Stock options (continued) 
 
A summary of the stock option activity is as follows: 
 

 December 31, 2013  December 31, 2012 

 Number 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price  Number 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
Balance, beginning of year 428,000 $0.70  380,000 $0.70 
Granted 850,000 0.15  48,000 0.75 
Expired/Cancelled (213,000) (0.74)  - - 
     
Balance, end of year 1,065,000 $0.26  428,000 $0.70 

  
  

As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company has outstanding directors’ and 
employees’ incentive stock options enabling the holders to acquire additional common 
shares as follows: 
 

Number of options 
outstanding  

Number of options 
exercisable Exercise Price Expiry Date 

    
75,000 75,000 $ 0.60 March 4, 2016 
20,000 20,000 $0.825 April 28, 2016 

120,000 120,000 $0.75 October 18, 2016 
850,000 850,000 $0.15 September 27, 2018 

1,065,000 1,065,000   

 
(d) Warrants   
 

 December 31, 2013  December 31, 2012 

 Number 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price  Number 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
Balance, beginning of year 1,405,764 $1.05  2,498,144 $1.70 
Issued 9,333,331 $0.10      707,620 $1.05 
Expired/Cancelled (762,264) ($1.01)  (1,800,000) ($1.95) 
      
Balance, end of year 9,976,831 $0.16  1,405,764 $1.05 
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10. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(d) Warrants (continued)  
 
As at December 31, 2013, the Company has outstanding share purchase warrants 
entitling the holders to acquire additional common shares, as follows:  
 

Number of Warrants Exercise Price Expiry Date 
   

477,500 $1.10 February 28, 2014 
166,000 $1.10 March 2, 2014  

8,000,000 $0.10 October 3, 2015 
1,333,331 $0.10 October 24, 2015 

9,976,831   

 
Subsequent to the year end, 643,500 warrants at a price of $1.10 per warrant expired 
unexercised. 
 

11. INCOME TAXES 
 

Income tax expense varies from the amount that would be computed from applying the combined 
federal and provincial income tax rate to loss before taxes as follows: 
 
 2013 2012 

Loss for the year before income tax $ (409,112) $ (1,278,273) 
Statutory Canadian corporate tax rate  25.75%  25.00% 

Anticipated tax recovery  (105,346)  (319,568) 

Change in tax rates resulting from:     
Effect of tax rate change  (47,100)  - 
Effect of jurisdictional tax rate difference  (4,421)  (71,764) 
Unrecognized items for tax  32,390  6,945 
Tax benefits not realized  124,477  384,387 

Income tax expense (recovery) $ - $ - 
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11. INCOME TAXES (continued) 
  
The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows: 
 

  2013  2012 

Exploration and evaluation assets   $   2,775,395 $   2,750,561 
Non-capital loss carry forwards    1,883,008  1,780,744 
Capital loss carry forwards    127,249  122,355 
Other    12,776  16,790 
    4,798,428  4,670,450 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets    (4,798,428)  (4,670,450) 

Deferred income taxes   $ - $ - 

 
At December 31, 2013, the Company has available non-capital tax losses for Canadian income 
tax purposes of $1,876,822 and net operating losses for US income tax purposes of $3,269,618 
(US$2,970,077) available for carry-forward to reduce future years’ taxable income, if not utilized, 
expiring as follows: 
 

  Canada  United States 

2018  $ - $ 1,387,021 

2027   113,090   152,685 

2028   378,101   280,495 

2029   259,831   367,360 

2030   166,062   442,758 

2031   316,115 318,805 

2032 373,867 318,778 

2033 269,756 1,716 

 $ 1,876,822  $        3,269,618
   

 

12.  SEGMENTED REPORTING 
 
 
Losses: 
       United 

    Canada            States  Argentina  Total 

December 31, 2013 $363,186 $1,716 $44,210 $409,112 
December 31, 2012 $566,057 $1,073 $711,143 $1,278,273 
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13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 

The aggregate amount of expenditures made to parties not at arm’s length to the Group for the 
years ending December 31, 2013 and 2012: 

December 31,   2013 2012 
Compensation of key management:   
 Management fees $  70,000 $140,400 
             Share-based compensation 92,453 14,769 
 $162,453 $155,169 
   

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2013 is $20,000 (2012 - 
$31,600) due to directors for unpaid management fees. During the year ended December 31, 
2013 a director loaned the Company $50,000 (see Note 14); which was repaid with interest of 
$1,151 during the year. 
 
On May 9, 2013, three Directors of the Company each loaned the Company $750 for a total of 
$2,250 for general working capital.  These were considered short-term loans that were non-
interest bearing and were repaid during the fourth quarter. 
 

 These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties, 
unless otherwise noted. 
 
There were no post-employment benefits, termination benefits or other long-term benefits paid to 
key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. 

 
14. COMMITMENT 

 
On August 6, 2013, the Company obtained an aggregate of $60,000 in loans, for 12 months, 
bearing interest at a rate of 12% per annum. The loans were repaid during the year $60,000 
principal plus interest of $1,381. 
 
The lenders had agreed to loan such funds to the Company in consideration for the Company 
issuing as a bonus an aggregate of 240,000 common shares of the Company to the lenders. As 
of December 31, 2013, the bonus shares have not been issued. 
 
 

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
On February 7, 2014, the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) approved the listing of the 
Company’s common shares on the CSE. At the close of trading on February 11, 2014, the 
Company’s shares were delisted from the TSXV.  
 
Prior to the market open on February 12, 2014, the Company effected its name change to “Brisio 
Innovations Inc.” and a continuance of the Company out of the Province of Alberta and into the 
Province of British Columbia. The Company began trading on the CSE at market open on 
February 12, 2014 under the trading symbol BZI.  
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15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued) 
 
In February 2014, the Company purchased all the rights and intellectual property and online 
assets associated with a portfolio of 40 applications.   
 
Also in February 2014, the Company acquired all rights, intellectual property and online assets 
associated with Boostify, an Android smartphone speed booster and battery saver.   

On February 28, 2014, the Company announced that it intends to complete a non-brokered 
private placement financing (the “Financing”) of up to 833,333 units (each, a “Unit”) at a price of 
$0.30 per Unit for gross proceeds of up to $250,000.  Each Unit will consist of one common share 
of the Company (each, a “Share”) and one-half of one share purchase warrant (each, a 
“Warrant”).  Each whole Warrant will entitle the holder thereof to purchase one additional Share at 
a price of $0.45 per Share for a period of one year from the closing of the Financing, subject to an 
acceleration provision whereby, in the event that the Shares trade above $0.60 per Share for a 
period of ten consecutive trading days, the Company may accelerate the expiry date of the 
Warrants, to a date that is thirty days after the completion of such period.  The proceeds of the 
Financing will be used for general working capital, Finders’ fee may be payable in connection with 
the Financing in accordance with the policies of the CSE. 

Also on February 28, 2014, the Company granted stock options to certain of its directors, officers 
and consultant to purchase a total of 300,000 common shares of the Company pursuant to the 
terms of the Company’s stock option plan.  All options are exercisable at a price of $0.30 per 
share for five years. 

On February 28, 2014, a total of 477,500 warrants at a price of $1.10 expired. 

On March 2, 2014, an additional 166,000 warrants at a price of $1.10 expired. 
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15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued) 
 

On March 14, 2014, the Company entered into a non-binding letter of intent (the “LOI”) with 
OakBranch Media Inc. (“OakBranch”) to acquire up to 100% of the issued and outstanding 
securities of OakBranch and its underlying assets (the “Transaction”).    Under the terms of the 
LOI, Brisio will undertake the Transaction on the following terms: 

 
a) in consideration for aggregate cash payments of $130,000, to be paid by Brisio to 

OakBranch upon the achievement of certain milestones by OakBranch to be determined 
by Brisio and specified in the definitive agreement to be entered into between Brisio and 
OakBranch with respect to the Transaction (the “Definitive Agreement”), Brisio will 
acquire securities of OakBranch, of a class to be determined and specified in the 
Definitive Agreement, sufficient to give Brisio a 30% voting and equity interest in 
OakBranch; 

 
b) OakBranch will grant Brisio an option, that will expire one year from the date of closing of 

the Definitive Agreement (the “Closing”), to acquire additional securities of OakBranch, of 
a class to be determined and specified in the Definitive Agreement, sufficient to give 
Brisio an additional 19.9% voting and equity interest in OakBranch, bringing Brisio’s total 
interest in OakBranch to 49.9%, exercisable upon: (i) the issuance by Brisio to 
OakBranch of 250,000 common shares of Brisio (each, a “Brisio Share”), and (ii) the 
payment of $75,000 by Brisio to OakBranch; and 

 
c) OakBranch will cause each of the shareholders of OakBranch (collectively, the 

“OakBranch Shareholders”) to grant Brisio a right of first refusal to acquire the remaining 
50.1% of the outstanding voting and equity interests of OakBranch from time to time the 
OakBranch Shareholders on terms to be specified in the Definitive Agreement. 

 
Completion of the Transaction is subject to a number of conditions, which will be further specified 
in the Definitive Agreement, including satisfactory completion of due diligence by Brisio on 
OakBranch and receipt of the approval of the CSE for the Transaction. 

On March 17, 2014, 100,000 stock options were exercised for total proceeds of $15,000. 
 
On April 2, 2014 the Company announced that it had purchased all rights and intellectual 
property and online assets associated with “Spermy’s Journey, A Race To The Egg!”, an Android 
and IOS game app.  The Company paid the vendor US$130,000 as consideration for these 
assets. 
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NOTICE OF NO AUDITOR REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
In accordance with National Instrument 51-102, Part 4, subsection 4.3(3) released by the 
Canadian Securities Administrators, the Company discloses that its auditors have not reviewed 
these unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements as at and for the nine 
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015. 
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Brisio Innovations Inc.

Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Unaudited - Prepared by Management)

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

As at As at
September 30, December 31,

Notes 2016 2015
ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 51,058 $ 21,038
Accounts receivable 2,645 3,685
GST recoverable 2,224 5,925
Convertible note 7 97,616 -                  
Prepaid expenses 9,938 9,503

163,481 40,151
Non-current assets

Investments 10 1,662,395 482,797
1,662,395 482,797

$ 1,825,876 $ 522,948

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13 $ 247,263 $ 179,836

247,263 179,836

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital 11 20,385,794 20,102,544
Contributed surplus 11 1,046,628 1,003,113
Accumulated other comprehensive income 10 1,289,905 313,764
Deficit (21,143,714) (21,076,309)

1,578,613 343,112

$ 1,825,876 $ 522,948

Nature and continuance of operations (note 1)

Approved on behalf of the Board:

"Paul Andreola" Director

"Colin Bowkett" Director

The notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements
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Brisio Innovations Inc.

Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss 
For the period ended June 30, 2016, with comparative figures for 2015
(Unaudited - Prepared by Management)

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

For the nine For the three For the nine For the three
months ended months ended months ended months ended
September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30

Notes 2016 2016 2015 2015

Revenue 12       5,961$             2,146$             14,313$           3,812$             
Cost of sales 12       (2,435)              (786)                 (62,840)            (21,124)            

Gross profit (loss) 3,526               1,360               (48,527)            (17,312)            

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES
Management fees 13       52,000             13,000             67,500             22,500             
Office and general 79,901             35,266             68,781             26,021             
Professional fees 11,079             4,146               24,553             8,874               
Share-based payment 11,13 43,515             43,515             -                       -                       
Transfer agent and filing 18,945             6,663               23,037             12,467             

205,440           102,590           183,871           69,862             

Loss before other items (201,914)          (101,230)          (232,398)          (87,174)            

OTHER ITEMS
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 7,194               191                  (3,103)              (2,876)              
Realized gain on sale of investment 11       34,218             49,958             345                  345                  

41,412             50,149             (2,758)              (2,531)              

Loss before income tax (160,502)          (51,081)            (235,156)          (89,705)            

Deferred income tax recovery 93,096           37,900           -                       -                       

Net loss (67,405)            (13,180)            (235,156)          (89,705)            

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
 Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments, net of 
tax   11       976,141$         497,854           106,418$         (641,003)$        

Total income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) for the period 908,736$         484,674$         (128,738)$        (730,708)$        

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.01)$              0.00$               (0.01)$              (0.00)$              

Weighted average number of  shares outstanding 27,201,098      27,201,098      23,270,270      23,270,270      

The notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements
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Brisio Innovations Inc.

Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
For the periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015
(Unaudited - Prepared by Management)

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Accumulated
Share Other 

Number of Share Subscriptions Contributed Comprehensive 
Shares Capital Received Surplus Income Deficit Total

Balance as at January 1, 2016 25,235,162 20,102,544$ -$                1,003,113$     313,764$            (21,076,309)$ 343,112$       
Share based payment -                  -$              -$                43,515$          -$                    -$               43,515$         
Issue of share capital, net 3,776,666   283,250        -                      -                      -                          -                     283,250         
Unrealized gain on AFS investments, net of tax -                  -                    -                      -                      976,141              -                     976,141         
Loss for the period -                  -                    -                      -                      -                          (67,405)          (67,405)          

Balance as at September 30, 2016 29,011,828 20,385,794$ -$                1,046,628$     1,289,905$         (21,143,714)$ 1,578,613$    

Accumulated
Share Other 

Number of Share Subscriptions Contributed Comprehensive 
Shares Capital Received Surplus Income Deficit Total

Balance as at January 1, 2015 19,977,309 19,670,082$ 155,539$        961,636$        -$                    (20,540,886)$ 246,371$       
Issue of share capital, net 5,257,853   473,939        (155,539)         -                      -                          -                     318,400         
Unrealized gain on AFS investments, net of tax -                  -                    -                      -                      106,418              -                     106,418         
Total comprehensive loss for the period -                  -                    -                      -                      -                          (235,156)        (235,156)        

Balance as at September 30, 2015 25,235,162 20,144,021$ -$                961,636$        106,418$            (20,776,042)$ 436,033$       
The notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements
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Brisio Innovations Inc.

Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the period ended September 30, 2016, with comparative figures for 2015
(Unaudited - Prepared by Management)

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

For the nine For the nine
months ended months ended
September 30 September 30

2016 2015

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED IN):
Operating activities
Net loss for the period (67,405)$          (235,156)$                
Adjustment for items not involving cash:

Foreign exchange loss (gain) 7,194              3,103                       
Share of (income) loss of an associate -                       (345)                         
Amortization -                       58,355                     
Share-based payment 43,515            -                               
Realized gain on sale of investment (34,218)             -                               

(50,915)             (174,043)                  
Changes in non-cash working capital:

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 1,040              (10,331)                    
Decrease (increase) in GST recoverable 3,701              (2,575)                      
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses (435)                (8,637)                      
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (67,427)           (42,929)                    

(114,036)           (238,515)                  

Investing activities
Convertible note (97,500)           -                               
Software applications -                       1,722                       
Sale of investments 251,644          -                               
Purchase of investments (329,659)         (150,000)                  

(175,515)           (148,278)                  

Financing activities
Issuance of common shares 326,765          235,000                   
Exercise of warrants -                       83,400                     

326,765          318,400                   
Foreign exchange on cash (7,194)               (3,103)                      

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 30,020            (71,496)                    
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 21,038            98,927                     

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 51,058$           27,431$                  

The notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS  
  

Brisio Innovations Inc. (the “Company”) is a publicly listed company incorporated in Canada with 
limited liability under the legislation of the Province of British Columbia. The Company’s shares 
are listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”). The head office and principal address is 
409 Granville Street, Suite 1052, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 1T2. 
 
The unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements (“interim financial 
statements”) of the Company as at and for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 
comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The Group is 
primarily involved in the acquisition, development and marketing of software applications for 
mobile computing devices, such as smart phones, tablets and wearable computers.  
 
These interim financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles 
applicable to a going concern, which assumes that the Group will be able to continue in operation 
for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and 
commitments in the normal course of business. 
 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Group generated $5,961 (2015 - $14,313) in 
gross revenue from the sale of mobile software applications, has a working capital deficit of 
$83,782 (December 31, 2015 – $139,685) and an accumulated deficit of $21,143,714 (December 
31, 2015 - $21,076,309). These material uncertainties lend significant doubt as to the ability of the 
Company to meet its obligations as they come due, and accordingly, the appropriateness of the 
use of accounting principles applicable to a going concern. The Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern is dependent upon achieving profitable operations and upon obtaining additional 
financing.  The outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at this time.  These interim financial 
statements do not include any adjustments to the amounts and classification of assets and 
liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue in business. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

(a) Statement of compliance: 
 
These interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
 
These interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Accounting Standard 34 Interim Financial Reporting. They do not include all the 
information required for full annual financial statements. 
 
These interim financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on November 
28, 2016. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 
 

(b) Functional and presentation currency: 
 

These interim financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the 
Group’s functional currency. 

 
(c) Basis of measurement: 

 
The interim financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except 
for financial instruments that are measured at their fair value.  

 
In addition, these interim financial statements have been prepared using the accrual 
basis of accounting, except for cash flow information. 

 
(d) Use of estimates and judgments: 

 
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to 
make certain judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results may differ 
from these estimates and assumptions. 
 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and 
in any future years affected. 

Significant accounting estimates:  

a. The judgement of indications of impairment of each asset and related determination 
of the net realizable value and write-down of these assets where applicable; 

b. The tax basis of assets and liabilities and related deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities;  

c. Rates of depreciation of software applications; and 
d. The inputs used in determining the valuation of share purchase warrants owned by 

Brisio. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 
 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments (continued): 

Significant accounting judgments:  

a. The determination of categories of financial assets and financial liabilities has been 
identified as an accounting policy which involves judgments or assessments made by 
management; and  

b. The analysis of the functional currency for each entity of the Group.  In concluding 
that the Canadian dollar is the functional currency of the parent and its subsidiary 
companies, management considered the currency that mainly influences the cost of 
providing goods and services in each jurisdiction in which the Company operates.  As 
no single currency was clearly dominant, management also considered secondary 
indicators including the currency in which funds from financing activities are 
denominated and the currency in which funds are retained. 

c. The going concern risk assessment (see note 1). 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these interim financial statements, and have been applied consistently by the Group. 
 

(a) Basis of consolidation 
 

(i) Subsidiaries:   
 
The interim financial statements of the Company include its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, Green River Petroleum (USA) Inc., incorporated in the State of 
Washington, USA and Netco Argentina S.A., incorporated in Argentina. Both 
subsidiaries were inactive at September 30, 2016. 
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the 
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential 
voting rights that currently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial 
statements of a subsidiary are included in the interim financial statements from 
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

 
(ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation: 
 

Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and 
expenses arising from intercompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
interim financial statements.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(b) Foreign currency 

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on dates of transactions. At each financial position reporting date, 
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated. Any foreign currency gains or losses are recognized in net income (loss) for 
the period. 

 
(c) Financial instruments  

 
Financial Assets 
 
All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception into 
one of the following four categories: held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, loans-and-
receivables or at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 
 
Financial assets classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value with unrealized gains 
and losses recognized through profit and loss. Regular way purchases and sales of 
FVTPL financial assets are accounted for at trade date, as opposed to settlement date. 
The Group has classified its cash and cash equivalents as FVTPL. 
 
Financial assets classified as loans-and-receivables and held-to-maturity are measured 
at amortized cost. The Group’s accounts receivable are classified as loans-and-
receivables. 
 
Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) except for 
losses in value that are considered other than temporary. The Group’s investments are 
classified as available-for-sale. 
 
Transactions costs associated with FVTPL and available-for-sale financial assets are 
expensed as incurred, while transaction costs associated with all other financial assets 
are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BRISIO INNOVATIONS INC. 
 
Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 
 
 

 11

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(c) Financial instruments (continued) 

 
Financial Liabilities 
 
All financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception as 
FVTPL or other-financial-liabilities. 
 
Financial liabilities classified as other-financial-liabilities are initially recognized at fair 
value less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other-financial-
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a 
financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the 
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. The Group’s 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other-financial-liabilities. 
 
Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and 
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as FVTPL. Derivatives, including 
separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments. Fair value changes on financial liabilities 
classified as FVTPL are recognized through profit and loss. The Group has not classified 
any financial liabilities as FVTPL. 

 The Group is not engaged in any financial derivative contracts. 
 
(d)   Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, and cash equivalents that are readily 
convertible into cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 

(e) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are recorded at cost upon acquisition and are depreciated over their 
estimated lives. Depreciation is expensed over the estimated useful life of the assets 
using the straight-line method. The Company monitors events and changes in 
circumstances which require an assessment of recoverability. If the carrying amount of 
the intangible assets is not recoverable, an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, 
determined by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use.   
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(f) Investments in associates 

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence. If the 
Company holds, directly or indirectly (i.e. through subsidiaries), 20% or more of the voting 
power of the investee, it is presumed the entity has significant influence, unless it can be 
clearly demonstrated that this is not the case. 

If the Company has significant influence over an investee, it accounts for its investment in 
an associate using the equity method. Under the equity method, on initial recognition, the 
investment in an associate is recognized at cost and the carrying amount is increased or 
decreased to recognize the Company’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the 
date of acquisition. The Company’s share of the investee’s profit or loss is recognized in 
the Company’s profit or loss. 

Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment. It 
may also be necessary to adjust the carrying amount for changes in the Company’s 
proportionate interest in the investee arising from changes in the investee’s other 
comprehensive income. The Company’s share of those changes is recognized in other 
comprehensive income. 

 
(g) Impairment  

  (i) Financial assets: 
 
A financial asset, other than those designated as FVTPL is assessed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is 
impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence 
indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is 
calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value 
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an 
individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in 
groups that share similar characteristics. 
 
All impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. An impairment loss is 
reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognized.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(g) Impairment (continued) 

 (ii) Non-financial assets: 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that 
are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets 
(the CGU).  The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the greater of its 
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  

 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
Value in use is generally computed by reference to the present value of the 
future cash flows expected to be derived from production of proven and probable 
reserves. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or 
its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGU’s 
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit 
(group of units) on a pro rata basis. 
 
Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depletion and depreciation or amortization, if 
no impairment loss had been recognized. 
 

(h) Revenue recognition 
 
The Group derives revenues from the sale of software and mobile applications through 
various platforms. The Group recognizes revenue when all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: (i) significant risks and rewards have transferred to the buyer; (ii) the Company 
no longer retains managerial involvement or effective control over the goods sold; (iii) the 
fee amount of revenue can be measured reliably; (iv) it is probable the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow to the Company; and (v) the costs incurred or to 
be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 
For revenue earned through certain mobile platforms, revenue is recognized based on 
the gross amount because the Group is acting as the principal and has the contractual 
right to determine the price to be paid. The related platform and payment processing fees 
are recorded as cost of sales in the period incurred. 
 
Advertising revenue for advertisements within the applications are recorded net of 
amounts retained by advertising networks. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(h) Revenue recognition (continued) 
 
For every contract signed, the Group examines its characteristics in order to determine 
whether it is appropriate to recognize the net or gross revenue from services rendered by 
agents. 

 
(i) Income tax 

 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is 
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that if the income tax expense related to 
items recognized directly in equity, the income tax expense would also be recognized in 
equity. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred tax is recognized using the liability method, providing for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset, and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on 
different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net 
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.  

 
A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred 
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

 
(j) Share capital 

  
 Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent 

that they do not meet the definition of a financial liability or financial asset. The 
Company’s common shares, share warrants and options are classified as equity 
instruments. 

 
 Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 

recognized as a deduction from equity.  
 

Valuation of equity units issued in private placements 
 
 The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of 

shares and warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(j) Share capital (continued) 
 
 allocates value to the more easily measurable component based on fair value and then 

the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.   
 
 The fair value of the common shares issued in the private placements was determined to 

be the more easily measurable component and were valued at their fair value, as 
determined by the closing quoted bid price on the announcement date.  The balance, if 
any, was allocated to the attached warrants.  Any fair value attributed to the warrants is 
recorded in contributed surplus.  

 
(k) Share-based payments 

  
 Where equity-settled share options are awarded to employees, the fair value of the 

options at the date of grant is charged to profit or loss over the vesting period. 
Performance vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting the number of equity 
instruments expected to vest at each reporting date so that, ultimately, the cumulative 
amount recognized over the vesting period is based on the number of options that 
eventually vest. Non-vesting conditions and market vesting conditions are factored into 
the fair value of the options granted. As long as all other vesting conditions are satisfied, 
a charge is made irrespective of whether these vesting conditions are satisfied. The 
cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market vesting condition or 
where a non-vesting condition is not satisfied. 

  
 Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in 

the fair value of the options, measured immediately before and after the modification, is 
also charged to profit or loss over the remaining vesting period. 

 
 Where equity instruments are granted to non-employees, they are recorded at the fair 

value of the goods or services received in profit or loss, unless they are related to the 
issuance of shares. Amounts related to the issuance of shares are recorded as a 
reduction of share capital. 
 
When the value of goods or services received in exchange for the share-based payment 
cannot be reliably estimated, the fair value is measured by use of a valuation model. The 
expected life used in the model is adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for 
the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioral considerations. 

 
 All equity-settled share-based payments are reflected in contributed surplus, until 

exercised. Upon exercise, shares are issued from treasury and the amount reflected in 
contributed surplus is credited to share capital, adjusted for any consideration paid. 

  
 Where a grant of options is cancelled or settled during the vesting period, excluding 

forfeitures when vesting conditions are not satisfied, the Company immediately accounts 
for the cancellation as an acceleration of vesting and recognizes the amount that 
otherwise would have been recognized for services received over the remainder of the  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(k) Share-based payments (continued) 

 
 vesting period. Any payment made to the employee on the cancellation is accounted for 
as the repurchase of an equity interest except to the extent the payment exceeds the fair 
 value of the equity instrument granted, measured at the repurchase date. Any such 
excess is recognized as an expense. 

 
(l) Earnings (loss) per share 
 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to 
common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per common share is 
computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares by the sum of 
the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all 
additional common shares that would have been outstanding, if potentially dilutive 
instruments were converted. 
 

(m) Changes in accounting policies 
 

The Company adopted the following new standards and interpretations issued by the 
IASB effective January 1, 2016.  The adoption of these standards had no impact on the 
Group’s financial statements. 
 
IFRS 10 (Amendment) Consolidated Financial Statements 
IFRS 11 (Amendment) Joint Arrangements 
IAS 16 (Amendment) Property, Plant and Equipment 
IAS 27 (Amendment) Separate Financial Statements 
IAS 28 (Amendment) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
IAS 38 (Amendment) Intangible Assets 
 
The following standards and interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective.  
The Group is currently assessing the impact that these standards will have on the 
financial statements. The Group plans to adopt these standards as soon as they become 
effective for the Group’s reporting period. 

 
Effective annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018: 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
Effective annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019: 
IFRS 16 Leases 
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4. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES  
 

Estimates of the fair value of financial instruments are made at a specific point in time, based on 
relevant information about financial markets and specific financial instruments.  As these 
estimates are subjective in nature, involving uncertainties and matters of significant judgement, 
they cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions can significantly affect 
estimated fair values.  At September 30, 2016, the Group's financial instruments include cash and 
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, investments, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 
Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
are recognized on the statement of financial position at their carrying value which approximated 
their fair value due to their short-term nature. 
 
All financial instruments measured at fair value are categorized into a hierarchy that prioritizes the 
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.  The hierarchy gives the highest 
priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1 measurement) 
and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement).  The three levels of the fair 
value hierarchy are described below: 
 
Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 
Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

The following table sets forth the Group’s financial assets measured at fair value by level within 
the fair value hierarchy. 
 
September 30, 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Assets:     
Cash and cash equivalents  $     51,058 $              - $               - $      51,058
Investment - shares  $     1,624,017 $              - $               - 1,624,017
Investment - warrants  $           - $              - $        38,583 $       35,583
 
December 31, 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Assets:     
Cash and cash equivalents  $     21,038 $              - $               - $      21,038 
Investment - shares  $   480,002 $              - $               - $    480,002 
Investment - warrants  $           - $              - $        2,795 $        2,795 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
(a) Overview  

 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks that arise as a result of its 
activities such as: 
 
■ market risk 
■ credit risk 
■ liquidity risk 
 
This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, 
the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. 
 
The Board of Directors oversees management’s establishment and execution of the 
Group’s risk management framework. Management has implemented and monitors 
compliance with risk management policies. The Group’s risk management policies are 
established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to market conditions and the 
Group’s activities. 
 

(b) Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk. 

 
(i) Interest rate risk 

 
The Group’s cash is held in bank accounts and due to the short-term nature of 
these financial instruments fluctuations in market interest rates do not have 
significant impact on the fair value as at September 30, 2016. 

 
The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates is currently immaterial due to the short 
term maturity of its monetary assets and liabilities. 

 
(ii) Foreign currency risk 

 
Currency risk is the risk to the Group's earnings that arises from fluctuations of 
foreign exchange rates and the degree of volatility of these rates. The Group 
does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to foreign currency 
risk. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
(b) Market risk (continued) 

 
(ii) Foreign currency risk (continued) 

 
At September 30, 2016, the Group had the following financial assets and 
liabilities in foreign currencies: 
 US Dollars Argentine Pesos 
Cash $        456 (550) 
Accounts receivable $             - 696 
Accounts payable $    19,725 347,098 
 
At September 30, 2016 US dollar amounts were converted at a rate of $1.00 US 
dollars to $1.3117 Canadian dollars and Argentine pesos amounts were 
converted at a rate of 1.00 Argentine pesos to $0.0852 Canadian dollars. 
  

(iii) Other price risk 
 
Other price risk is the risk that the fair or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, other than those 
arising from interest rate risk. The Group is not exposed to significant other price 
risk.  
 

(c) Credit risk  
 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a loss for the other 
party by failing to discharge an obligation. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents and 
accounts receivable are exposed to credit risk. The credit risk on cash and cash 
equivalents is considered small because the majority of funds have been placed with major 
Canadian and Argentinean financial institutions.  Management believes that the credit risk 
related to its accounts receivable is remote.  
 

(d) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities.  The Group’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to 
ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due.  
 
At September 30, 2016, the Group had a cash balance of $51,058, accounts receivable of 
$2,645 and GST recoverable of $2,224. The Group has accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities of $247,263. The Group intends to raise funds adequate to meet its liquidity 
needs for the next twelve months via private placement or the sale of over-performing 
investments. 
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6. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Group considers its capital structure to include working capital and shareholders’ equity.  
Management’s objective is to ensure that there is sufficient capital to minimize liquidity risk and to 
continue as a going concern.  Management reviews its capital management approach on an 
ongoing basis and believes that its approach, given the relative size of the Group is reasonable.  
 
The Group is not subject to any external capital restrictions and the Group did not change its 
approach to capital management during the period. 

7. CONVERTIBLE NOTE 

On September 12, 2016, the Company completed an investment in ImmunoPrecise Antibodies. 
Ltd. (“IPA”).  The Company subscribed for a convertible note in the principal amount of $97,500 
(the “Convertible Note”).  The Convertible Note earns interest at a rate of 5% per annum, 
calculating and accruing daily from the date of issue, payable in arrears on an annual basis 
commencing on September 12, 2017. Such interest shall be paid in Canadian currency or 
common shares in accordance with the terms. 
 
In the event that IPA completes a reverse takeover to list on stock exchange (“Pubco”), the 
principal amount of the Convertible Note will be convertible into 650,000 units of Pubco issued at 
a price of $0.15 per unit.  Each Unit will consist of one common share of Pubco (a “Pubco 
Share“) and one share purchase warrant (“Pubco Warrant”).  Each Pubco Warrant will entitle the 
Company to acquire one additional Pubco Share at a price of $0.30 per share for a period of 
twelve (12) months from the date of issue of the Pubco Warrants. 

At September 30, 2016, the Company has earned interest in the amount of $116. 

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Software Applications: 
Cost   
Balance at December 31, 2014  237,246 
Refund  (1,721) 
Impairment  (235,525) 
Balance at December 31, 2015 and September 30, 2016 $ - 
Amortization   
Balance at December 31, 2014  69,844 
Amortization expense included in cost of sales  77,983 
Impairment  (147,827) 
Balance at December 31, 2015 and September 30, 2016 $ - 
Carrying amounts  

December 31, 2015 $ - 
September 30, 2016 $ - 
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company assessed whether there were any 
indications that intangible assets were impaired. Management noted that due to declining 
revenues and consistent losses, the intangible assets appeared to be impaired.  Upon calculating 
the recoverable amount of the intangible assets to be $nil, the Company recognized an 
impairment of $87,698. 

9. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE – OAKBRANCH MEDIA INC. 

 On June 9, 2014, the Company executed a Definitive Agreement to acquire up to 100% of the 
issued and outstanding securities of unrelated party OakBranch Media Inc. (“OakBranch”) and its 
underlying assets. 

As of December 31, 2015, the Company had made aggregate cash payments of $100,000 to 
OakBranch. On September 21, 2015, 333,334 shares were issued to the Company.  As such, 
Brisio is considered to have significant influence over OakBranch, which has resulted in 
OakBranch now being considered an equity investee. 
 
The Company’s option to acquire additional securities of OakBranch, sufficient to give the 
Company an additional 19.9% voting and equity interest in OakBranch, expired on June 8, 2015, 
as the Company elected not to pursue the acquisition of the additional equity position. 

The Company assessed whether there were any indications that the investment in associate was 
impaired. Management noted that due to a lack of revenue growth and limited business 
prospects, the investment in associate appeared to be impaired.  Upon calculating the 
recoverable amount of the investment in associate to be $nil, the Company recognized an 
impairment of $92,000. 
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10. INVESTMENTS 

September 30, 2016 
 

 Lite Access 
Technologies Inc. 

Intema Solutions Inc. – 
shares 

Intema Solutions Inc. 
– warrants Hamilton Thorne Ltd. 

International Barrier 
Tech 

Pioneering 
Technologies- shares 

Pioneering Tech - 
warrants  

 Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount  
Balance, January 1, 2016 440,199 $449,002 1,800,000 $ 27,000 2,000,000 $ 2,795 20,000 $ 4,000 - $         - - $         - - $         -  
Purchased - - - - - - - - 30,000 9,840 1,225,000 156,875 600,000 -  
Proceeds from sale (44,700) (55,454) (1,800,000) (69,280) - - (20,000) (3,600) (12.500) (4,125) (217,000) (111,785) - -  
Realized gain (loss) - 48,639 - (65,720) - - - (600) - 25 - 77,299 - -  
Unrealized gain (loss) - 194,565 - 108,000 - 35,583 - 300 - 735 - 476,815 - 208,789  
Balance, Sept. 30, 2016 395,499 $636,753 -   $ - 2,000,000 $38,378 -   $ - 17,500 $6,475 1,050,000 $609,000 600,000 $208,789  

 
 
 
 

Renoworks Software 
Inc. 

Cencotech Inc 
 

 
 

Distinct Infrastructure 

 
 

Allur Group 

   

 
 Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount      Total  
Balance, January 1, 2016 - $         - - $         - - $         - - $         -      $482,797  
Purchased 100,000 31,000 100,000 34,000 75,000 9,375 523,332   78,500        329,385  
Proceeds from sale - - - - (75,000) (9,000) - -       (253,244)  
Realized gain (loss) - - - - - (375) - -          59,268  
Unrealized gain (loss) - 1,500 - 18,000 - - - -      1,044,188  

Balance, Sept. 30, 2016 100,000 $32,500 100,000 $ 52,000 -    $ - 523,332 
   
$78,500 

     
$1,662,394  
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10. INVESTMENTS (continued) 

 
December 31, 2015  
 

 Lite Access 
Technologies Inc. 

Intema Solutions Inc. 
– shares 

Intema Solutions 
Inc. – warrants 

Hamilton Thorne 
Ltd. Total 

 Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount  
Balance, December 
31, 2014 and 2013 

- $           - - $           - - $         - - $         - $            - 

Purchased 499,999 100,000 2,000,000 150,000 2,000,000 - 20,000 4,200 254,200 
Proceeds from sale (59,800) (66,280) (200,000) (3,970) - - - - (70,250) 
Realized gain (loss) - 57,240 - (11,030) - - - - 46,210 
Unrealized gain (loss) - 358,042 - - - 2,795 - (200) 360,637 
Impairment - - - (108,000) - - - - (108,000) 
Balance, December 
31, 2015 440,199 $449,002 1,800,000 $ 27,000 2,000,000 $ 2,795 20,000 $ 4,000 $482,797 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company determined that the significant decline in value of its investment in Intema Solutions Inc. 
evidenced an impairment and recognized an impairment loss of $108,000.  
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11. SHARE CAPITAL   
 

(a) Authorized 
 

  Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
  Unlimited number of preferred shares without par value. 

 
 

(b) Issued 
  
 September 30, 2016 December 31, 2015 

 
Number of 

Shares Amount 
Number of 

Shares Amount
Common shares:  
Balance, beginning of period 25,235,162 $20,102,544 19,977,309 $19,670,082

Transactions during the period:  
    Private placement 3,776,666 283,250 4,423,853 349,062

Warrants exercised - - 834,000 83,400

Balance, end of period 29,011,828 $20,385,794 25,235,162 $20,102,544 
 

On January 7, 2015, the Company closed its non-brokered private placement pursuant to 
which it sold an aggregate of 2,073,853 units at a price of $0.075 per unit for gross 
proceeds of $155,539. Each unit sold was comprised of one common share in the capital 
of the Company and one-half of one transferable share purchase warrant. Each warrant 
entitles the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $0.15 per share until 
January 7, 2016. The warrants are subject to an acceleration clause. The warrants were 
valued at $41,477. 
 
On January 27, 2015, the Company closed its non-brokered private placement pursuant 
to which it sold an aggregate of 2,350,000 units at a price of $0.10 per unit for gross 
proceeds of $235,000. Each unit sold was comprised of one common share in the capital 
of the Company and one-half of one transferable share purchase warrant. Each warrant 
entitles the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $0.20 per share until 
January 27, 2016. The warrants are subject to an acceleration clause. 
 
On March 9, 2015, 50,000 outstanding warrants were exercised at a price of $0.10 per 
share. 
 
On July 14, 2015, 784,000 outstanding warrants were exercised at a price of $0.10 per 
share. 

In March 2016, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement pursuant to which 
it sold an aggregate of 3,776,666 Units at a price of $0.075 per Unit, for gross proceeds 
of $283,250. Each Unit consists of one common share of the Company (each, a “Share”) 
and one-half of one share purchase warrant (each, a “Warrant”). Each whole Warrant 
entitles the holder thereof to purchase one additional Share at a price of $0.15 per Share  
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 
(b) Issued (continued) 

for a period of one year from closing of the Financing, subject to an acceleration provision 
whereby, in the event that the average closing price is equal to or greater than $0.20 per 
Share for a period of fifteen consecutive trading days, the Company may accelerate the 
expiry date of the Warrants, to a date that is thirty days after the notice of completion of 
such period.  
 

(c)  Stock options  
 
The Company has a stock option plan in accordance with the policies on the Canadian 
Securities Exchange whereby, from time to time at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors, stock options are granted to directors, officers and certain consultants.   

 
Under the plan up to 10% of the total number of issued common shares of the Company, 
calculated on a non-diluted basis, at the time an option is granted are available for the 
issuance of stock options.  The exercise price of each option is based on the market price 
of the Company’s common stock at the date of the grant less an applicable discount.  
The options can be granted for a maximum term of 10 years. The maximum number of 
options that may be granted to any one person must not exceed 5% of the common 
shares issued and outstanding at the time of grant unless disinterested shareholder 
approval is obtained. Any options granted to consultants or persons performing Investor 
Relations under the Amended Stock Option Plan shall vest to the optionee as follows: 
25% at date of grant, 25% six months from date of grant, 25% nine months from date of 
grant and the remaining 25% twelve months from the date of grant. All other options 
granted under the Amended Stock Option Plan shall have vesting terms set at the 
discretion of the Board of Directors. 
 
A summary of the stock option activity is as follows: 
 
 September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015 

 Number

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price Number 

Weighted 
Average Exercise 

Price
Balance, beginning of period 1,325,000 $0.24 1,325,000 $0.24
Granted 650,000 0.10 - -
Exercised - - - -
Expired/Cancelled (55,000) 0.60 - -
  
Balance, end of period 1,920,000 $0.24 1,325,000 $0.24
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 
(c) Stock options (continued)  

 
 As at September 30, 2016, the Company has outstanding directors’ and employees’ 
incentive stock options enabling the holders to acquire additional common shares as 
follows: 
 
 

Number of options 
outstanding  

Number of options 
exercisable Exercise Price Expiry Date 

80,000 80,000 $0.75 October 18, 2016 
740,000 740,000 $0.15 September 27, 2018 
300,000 300,000 $0.30 February 28, 2019 
150,000 150,000 $0.10 December 12, 2019 
650,000 650,000 $0.10 August 4, 2021 

1,920,000 1,920,000  2.75 years remaining 
 

On March 4, 2016, 35,000 options with an exercise price of $0.60 expired unexercised. 
 
On April 28, 2016, 20,000 options with an exercise price of $0.825 expired unexercised. 
 
On August 4, 2016, the Company granted 650,000 stock options to officers and directors 
of the Company.  The stock options were granted for a period of 5 years, expiring on 
August 4, 2021, and each stock option will allow the holder to purchase a common share 
of the Company at an exercise price of $0.10. 
 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, $43,515 (2015 - $nil) has been 
recorded as share-based payment relating to options issued and fully vested during the 
period. The fair value of stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: Dividend yield 0% 
expected annual volatility 129%; risk-free interest rate 0.75%; market share price of 
$0.10; forfeiture rate of 0% and expected life of 5 years. Expected volatility was based on 
the historical share price volatility over the past 5 years. The expected life of the option 
was calculated based on the history of option exercises. 
 
Subsequent to the quarter end, on October 18, 2016, 80,000 stock options at a price of 
$0.75 expired unexercised. 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(d) Warrants   
 

 September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015 

 Number

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price  Number 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price
Bal, beginning of period 2,211,927 $0.18  9,680,497 $0.12
Issued 1,888,331 0.15  2,211,927 0.18
Exercised - -  (834,000) (0.10)
Expired/Cancelled (2,211,927) (0.18)  (8,846,497) (0.12)
  
Balance, end of period 1,888,331 $0.15  2,211,927 $0.18

 
On January 7, 2016, 1,036,927 warrants expired unexercised. 
 
On January 27, 2016, 1,175,000 warrants expired unexercised.  
 
 

12. SEGMENTED REPORTING 
 
The Company is organized into business units based on unique software applications and has 
the following reportable operating segment results for the nine months ended September 30, 
2016. 
 
 Spermy’s 

Journey 
On the Fly – 

Voice 
Translator 

Other software 
applications 

Total 

Total assets $ Nil $ Nil $ Nil $ Nil 
Total liabilities $ Nil $ Nil $ Nil $ Nil 
     
Revenues $1,482 $3,756 $723 $5,961 
Cost of Sales $109 $2,109 $217 $2,435 
Net Operating Income $1,372 $1,648 $506 $3,526 
 
$4,844 of the above revenue was generated from the Apple app store. 
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12. SEGMENTED REPORTING (continued) 
 
The reportable operating segment results for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 are as 
follows: 
 
 Spermy’s 

Journey 
On the Fly – 

Voice 
Translator 

Other software 
applications 

Total 

Total assets $70,579 $22,489 $14,257 $107,325 
Total liabilities $ Nil $ Nil $ Nil $ Nil 
     
Revenues $4,632 $7,209 $2,471 $14,313 
Amortization ($37,365) ($13,494) ($7,496) ($58,355) 
Cost of Sales ($193) ($3,551) ($741) ($4,485) 
Net Operating Income ($32,926) ($9,836) ($5,766) ($48,527) 
 
$10,235 of the above revenue was generated from the Apple app store. 
 

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 

The aggregate amount of expenditures made to parties not at arm’s length to the Group for the 
nine months ending September 30, 2016 and 2015 are: 

September 30,  2016 2015
Compensation of key management:  
 Management fees $  52,000 $     67,500  

Share based payment $  43,515 $              -
  

Paul Andreola, President and Director was paid or accrued a total of $24,000 (2015 - $40,500), 
Colin Bowkett, Director was paid or accrued a total of $18,000 (2015 - $13,500) and Scott 
MacEachern, Chief Financial Officer was paid or accrued a total of $10,000 (2014 - $13,500). 
 
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at September 30, 2016 is $64,875 (2015 - 
$22,950) due to directors for unpaid management fees. 
 
These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties, 
unless otherwise noted. 
 
There were no post-employment benefits, termination benefits or other long-term benefits paid to 
key management personnel for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015. 
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